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The Logo

The logo was developed from a concept created by Lainie Joy of Borroloola. The five flowing figures have multiple 
meanings. They represent the five wards in our Region (Never Never, Numbulwar Numburindi, Nyirranggulung, 
South West Gulf and Yugul Mangi); the five main rivers winding through our Region (the Limmen, McArthur, 
Robinson, Roper and Rose Rivers); the low-lying hills that are visible on the horizon nearly everywhere in the 
Roper Gulf Region and the Rainbow Serpent that underlies everything. The colours are based on the different 
colours of the soils and the peoples co-existing in the Roper Gulf Region.
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Street Address 
29 Crawford Street Katherine NT 0850
Postal Address 
PO Box 1321 Katherine NT 0851
Phone 08 8972 9000
Fax 08 8971 2607
Email info@ropergulf.nt.gov.au
Website www.ropergulf.nt.gov.au

Roper Gulf Regional Council ABN 94 746 956 090

Council Services and Infrastructure and 
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99 Emungalan Road Katherine NT 0850

Community Services

126 Victoria Highway Katherine NT 0850

Regional Service Delivery Centres

 Phone  Fax 
Barunga  08 8975 4505  08 8944 7059
Beswick  08 8975 4800  08 8975 4565
Borroloola  08 8975 8758  08 8975 8762
Bulman  08 8975 4189  08 8975 4753
Jilkminggan  08 8975 4751  08 8975 4905
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Mataranka  08 8975 4576  08 8975 4608
Ngukurr  08 8975 4656  08 8975 4658
Numbulwar  08 8975 4675  08 8975 4673
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Acronyms and definitions
ABS  Australian Bureau of Statistics
AG Australian Government
AGD  Department of Attorney-General and Justice
AMP  Alcohol Management Plan
CACP  Community Aged Care Package
CEO  Chief Executive Officer
CEEP  Community Energy Efficiency Program
CIG  Capital Infrastructure Grant
Community  The term ‘community’ refers to all groups of people 

living in the region, unless specifically stated otherwise
CS  Community Safety
CSM  Council Services Manager
CTG  Close the Gap
DBCDE Department Broadband, Communication and the 

Digital Economy
DCG  Directorate of Corporate Governance
DCM  Department of Chief Minister
DCS  Directorate of Community Services
DCSI Directorate Council Services and Infrastructure
DCTS  Directorate Contracts and Technical Services
DHsg  Department of Housing
DIRD  Department of Infrastructure and Regional 

Development
DLPE  Department of Lands, Planning and Environment (NT)
DoB  Department of Business (Employment and Training)
DoI  Department of Infrastructure
DoE  Department of Education
DoH  Department of Health
DoT  Department of Transport
DLGCS  Department of Local Government and Community 

Services
DPMC  Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet  

(Aust. Gov.)
DSS Department of Social Services (Aust. Gov.)
DSSR  Department of Sport, Recreation and Racing
DRDWP  Department of Regional Development and Women’s 

Policy
DWP  Daly Waters Progress Association
DSEWPC Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, 

Population and Communities
GEC  Government Engagement Coordinator
FRRR  Foundation for Rural and Regional Renewal
Governance  Governance, Corporate Planning and Compliance
HACC Home and Community Care
HMP  Housing Maintenance Program
HLP  Horticulture and Landcare Projects

HQ  Headquarters
HR  Human Resources
IT  Information Technology
ICC  Indigenous Coordination Centre
LA  Local Authority
LGEEP  Local Government Energy Efficiency Program
LIP Local Implementation Plan
LRG  Local Reference Group
MAM  Minister for Arts and Museums
MRM  McArthur River Mine
MRM CBT McArthur River Mine Community Benefits Trust
NFA  New Future Alliance
NTEPA  Northern Territory Environment Protect Authority
NTPFES  Northern Territory Police Fire and Emergency Services
NTG  Northern Territory Government
NQF National Quality Framework
NPO  Not Permanently Occupied
PAWA  Power and Water Corporation
R2R  Roads to Recovery
RAF  Regional Arts Funding
RGRC  Roper Gulf Regional Council
RIBS  Remote Indigenous Broadcasting Services
RJCP  Remote Jobs and Communities Programme
R&M  Repair and maintenance
RSAS  Remote School Attendance Strategy
RWMS  Regional Waste Management Strategy
RTEED  Remote Training, Employment and Economic 

Development
S&R  Sport and Recreation
SDC  Service Delivery Centre
SIHIP  Strategic Indigenous Housing and Infrastructure 

Program
SPG  Special Purpose Grant
SSS  Satellite Subsidy Scheme
SNP  School Nutrition Program
SHS  Sunrise Health Service
TNT  Tourism Northern Territory
VOQ  Visiting Officers’ Quarters
WFD Work For Dole
WMF  Waste Management Facility
WoNS  Weeds of National Significance
Workshop  Mechanical Workshop
YMAC  Yugul Mangi Aboriginal Corporation
YS  Youth Services
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Message from Mayor

Looking back on the last year I feel both proud and excited 
by what we have achieved here at Roper Gulf Regional 
Council. Importantly we have continued to maintain and 
extend our services despite an unstable economic and 
funding environment. 

Local government is the grass root tier of Government 
and the most representative and responsive to regional 
communities but the least able to raise revenue. This is 
particularly the case in remote regions that have very small 
rates bases. As such we must manage our finances with 
enhanced vigilance as many of our programs and services 
are funded by the Territory and Australian Governments 
who seem to be continuously changing their structural 
economic frameworks.

There appears to be a continuing movement by 
Governments to shift the cost of local programs they are 
not prepared to deliver directly, to local government or 
simply to remove funding to strengthen their own budget. 
This often leaves gaps in important local services.

At the end of this financial year there still has been no 
resolution on the loss of indexation of Federal Assistance 
Grants to Local Government announced in the Australian 
Government 2014 Budget. This has left a real reduction in 
available funds for important local programs. 

Our Councillors are working hard as a team and have 
achieved some good planning and decision making. 
Councillor Stan Allen from South West Gulf Ward retired 
prematurely and his participation in Council deliberations 
is greatly missed. In turn we have a new councillor Daniel 
Mulholland bringing considerable local knowledge and 
new energy. 

In what has been a long year, the NT Government 
announced that this current term of local government is to 
be extended for an extra year making it a very long term 
for any elected Council. The Government was concerned 

that another election in 2016 could bring voter fatigue. I 
am not so sure.

I would personally like to thank the Council for its hard 
work and diligence and particularly note the work of 
Deputy Mayor Judy MacFarlane. I would also like to thank 
our hardworking CEO and Council staff in achieving a 
strong year often under challenging circumstances.

Local Authorities have also become an important part 
of the decision making and community participation 
processes of Council. We now have strong working local 
authorities in ten of our towns.

Works on road upgrades and paths in some of our towns 
will make pedestrian traffic a lot safer by separating heavy 
traffic and pedestrians. The greening of our towns will 
continue with the planting of hundreds of new food and 
medicine trees. This is part of making our towns more 
liveable.

More towns now have new solar lights and our Service 
Delivery Centres have been upgraded making them more 
energy efficient, safe  and better places to work and visit, 
all giving a  substantial cost saving. 

Council has purchased land in Katherine and the work 
of building a new Technical Services Workshop will be 
completed by end of December 2015. This will be a 
valuable asset and saving on current lease costs.

Yet again we had the best local and regional festivals which 
provide pleasure for locals and visitors alike by sharing the 
best of our unique culture and sport. This year was the 
thirtieth Barunga Festival.

I have continued to represent Roper Gulf Regional 
Council on the LGANT Board and as Vice President 
Shires and Regions and on the Australian Local 
Government Association Board.  This has been an 
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important opportunity to promote regional and remote 
local government at the national level.

Please continue to tell us your ideas and what you think 
of our services and what your priorities are for the 
development of your home areas. Speak to Councillors and 
Local Authority Members in your local area and you are 
welcome to attend ordinary meetings of Council and Local 
Authority meetings. Times and locations are published on 
the Council website www.ropergulf.nt.gov.au

I am looking forward to a sustainable, viable and vibrant 
future for Roper Gulf Regional Council.

Shire Plan 2012-2013 iii

Foreword
The Roper Gulf Shire Council acknowledges the Traditional Owners of the Shire area, past and present. Roper Gulf 
Shire Council has grown significantly since its commencement in July 2008. Rapid growth and increased service 
delivery have presented challenges and complex issues for the Council. The Council has worked hard to meet and 
overcome these challenges as it has moved forward.

The three year Strategic Plan 2010-2013 reflects the individual character of the Shire. The Shire continues to  
improve the quality of services and programs it delivers as it moves towards achieving the goals and objectives set 
out in the Strategic Plan. 2012 marked a significant milestone, being this Shire’s second Council election. Armed with  
a new Shire Plan, a wealth of cultural knowledge and stronger community ties, the new Council will be reviewing 
the Strategic Plan in 2013 to provide the organisation with goals and outcomes reflective of the evolving 
requirements of our communities. The new Council have the advantage of utilising past lessons learnt by  
the previous Council to ensure an efficient and consultative process.

The Shire is committed to improving and increasing remote service delivery to all our townships and  
will continue in its lead role in identifying opportunities for greater service delivery; industry growth  
and community development.

Our towns of Ngukurr and Numbulwar are Remote Service Delivery sites under the Australian Governments 
National Remote Partnership Agreement. These towns and Borroloola are Growth Towns under the Northern 
Territory Governments Working Futures Policy. The Shire is a signatory to the Local Implementation Plans (LIP). As  
a partner to the Federal and NT Governments, the Shire aims to achieve the best possible outcomes for our residents 
in these towns. 

Since 2008 the Shire has continued to improve its services in all areas. We will continue to improve 
and increase the quality and standards of service delivery as we move towards achieving our goals. The 
purpose of the Shire Plan is to plan, strengthen and grow our delivery of local government services and  
other agency programs. The legislative requirements for this Shire Plan are located in the Appendix I  
of this document.

Thanks to Council, Community, Local Boards and stakeholders for their input into this Shire Plan. We encourage  
community members to work with the Local Boards and Councillors so we can all work together 
as one towards a Sustainable, Viable and Vibrant future.

On behalf of the Roper Gulf Shire Council,

Tony Jack 
Mayor, Roper Gulf Regional Council

Welcome to our seventh Annual Report. Again, the last 
12 months have been as busy as ever and we continue to 
work hard at improving services to the Communities and 
enhancing our governance structures as an organisation.

Council has been busy dealing with the mandatory four 
yearly electoral review which has been facilitated by an 
expert consultant. Council has lodged its submission 
with the only change to include an additional Councillor 
position for the Numbulwar Numburindi Ward. 

Council also saw the departure of well known Borroloola 
identity, Stan Allen as Councillor representing the South 
West Gulf Ward. As a result of this Council ran a By-
election and we subsequently welcomed the appointment 
of Councillor Daniel Mulholland.

We continue to make inroads into improving and 
strengthening our 10 Local Authorities and I am pleased 
to say that our engagement with these important groups 
assists Council to identify those key goals and priorities 
for Communities we have set in Council’s Regional Plans 
over the years. 

Over the course of the year these Local Authorities 
with their members have worked well to bring issues of 
concern to the table of Council and as an organisation we 
continue to do our best to address the priorities they have 
highlighted.

Operationally, we have many achievements to speak of 
particularly when it comes to infrastructure improvements 
which are outlined in this report. A few examples I 
can highlight; in Mataranka the rodeo arena has been 
upgraded with new fencing and an announcer’s box 
and we also installed a number of solar lights in the 
community. In the town’s Mulggan Camp we have 
installed a new ablution block which is much needed 
to help with the influx of short to long term visitors. 
In Numbulwar the training centre has been completely 
refurbished and now accommodates visitors with very nice 
rooms. 

Similarly, in Ngukurr major upgrades have been 
completed to the contractors accommodation. Over in 
Bulman we are underway with the new and much needed 
visitors centre accommodation.

Message from CEO

ROPER GULF REGIONAL COUNCIL  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014-20156



The fencing program which provided fences to public 
housing in a number of communities was finally 
completed giving improved safety and security for those 
householders and families.

In other areas of our operations we continue to make 
improvements to strengthen the organisation and ensure 
all of our policies and practices are how they should be. 
We now have an additional layer in accountability with 
the establishment of the new Audit Committee and they 
already have held several meetings to discuss key issues on 
our operations to ensure we are fully compliant. In saying 
this we have had the Department of Local Government 
undertake their compliance review process and they have 
reported back with some minor areas that needed to be 
addressed and we have subsequently completed these. 

I would like to thank my team of Directors who worked 
tirelessly throughout the year with the aim of improving 
services to all communities in our local government area, 
albeit in a very challenging environment. Of course, 
nothing can get done on the ground without the efforts 
of every manager and their staff and they have my thanks 
and appreciation. 

The elected members of Council are the ones who 
give us the direction, support and encouragement and 
together we see ourselves as one team, a team that strives 
to improve the lives of people in the communities we 
serve and for this I am extremely grateful. This combined 
team effort has produced many positive developments 
and improvements in communities which can be clearly 
seen in this report. I therefore invite you to read all about 
them.

Roper Gulf Shire Council Annual Report 2010-11 3

Message from the CEO
Our third year has come and gone and as I write this 
message we are already halfway through the 4th. 
Since commencing operations 3 years ago I can say 
with confidence the Roper Gulf Shire Council has 
made strong ground in its development and delivery 
of services and that we have made much progress 
towards reaching maturity as an organisation.

I would like to thank the Mayor, Tony Jack and our 
Councillors for their professionalism and commitment to 
the Shire and its people. And special thanks to Deputy 
Mayor Clair O’Brien for her tireless efforts and support 
with the various challenges we have had to deal with.

This will be the third Annual Report from the inaugural 
first elected Council of Roper Gulf Shire. The next 
Annual Report will include nine months of this 
Council's time in office followed by an election on  
24 March 2012, at which time the new Council will 
take over. As their first term comes to an end, it is a 
good opportunity to reflect on the positive progress of 
the Council and the tremendous achievements we have 
made such as a marked increase in local jobs for local 
people with Indigenous employment above 70% of 
our workforce. Much improved and increased services 
have been implemented in our towns with one of the 
Shire Service Delivery Centres winning the Territory 
Tidy Towns Award, a reflection on the improvements 
made. We have also worked hard on overcoming a 
huge challenge in our financial accountability and 
transparency practices and this year I am proud to say 
that we have achieved full compliance on our financial 
audit submission due date to our regulatory body, 
the Department of Housing, Local Government and 
Regional Services. 

I can confidently report that the Roper Gulf Shire has 
been able to achieve at a high level, our growth and 
program successes tell a good story. There is still a lot to 
do and the change management process is a long one, 
but attitudes and actions are slowly changing. During this 
reporting period, the Council commissioned a Charles 
Darwin University (CDU) post-grad degree student to 
conduct an independent survey aimed at constituents 
in the region and results reported to Council were that 
generally people were happy with service delivery, the 
key issue was communications. I agree it is a difficult 
landscape to get the messages of Council across to all 
stakeholders, however our internal communications 
processes have improved, we have a new improved 
website, and a great newsletter, many local notice boards 
and broadcasting stations are getting the information out.

The local government reform has in recent times 
suffered from negative publicity and this is 
most unfortunate. In the review of the electoral 
representation for the Shire undertaken in 2010/11 
the consultations with community members expressed 
little change to the model of Shire, its structure or ward 
and boundary locations.

Through the development of the Governance and 
Corporate Planning Unit we have been able to take the 
time to assess the progress of the organisation against 
compliance and planning frameworks. The Councillors 
and Local Boards are receiving greater support 
and assistance and information, through improved 
communications, is starting to flow. The development 
of the unit has also provided an additional resource, the 
Grants Officer. This position has been working tirelessly 
this year to finally acquit over $20 million dollars worth 
of unacquitted grants from the old Councils finances 
inherited by the Roper Gulf Shire. By removing this 
burden the Shire is now eligible for many more grants 
previously unavailable because of the mountain of 
outstanding acquittals.

In conclusion I would like to thank my staff throughout 
the Shire for their efforts and hard work and I look 
forward to directing our operations over the next year, 
now that many of the significant transitional issues 
have been overcome.

Michael Berto 
CEO Michael Berto 

CEO, Roper Gulf Regional Council
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INTRODUCTION
The Roper Gulf region is a dynamic 
mixture of ancient traditions 
and the modern way. Roper 
Gulf Regional Council’s strong 
Governance leads Council towards 
our mission, vision and values.



INTRODUCTION
SECTION 1



Our Mission
Working as one towards 
a better future through 
effective use of all resources

Our Values
Honesty
Equality
Accountability
Respect
Trust

Our Vision
Roper Gulf Regional 
Council sustainable, 
viable, vibrant

Our Mission, Vision and Values
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Roper Gulf Regional Council

Bulman

Beswick

Minyerri

Jilkminggan

Larrimah

Daly Waters

Mataranka

Manyallaluk (Eva Valley)

Barunga

NYIRRANGGULUNG 
WARD

Robinson River

Borroloola

Numbulwar

Ngukurr

NEVER NEVER
WARD

YUGUL MANGI
WARD

NUMBULWAR 
NUMBURINDI

WARD

SOUTH WEST
WARD

Katherine 
municipality

EAST 
ARNHEM 
REGIONAL 
COUNCIL

WEST ARNHEM 
REGIONAL COUNCIL

VICTORIA 
DALY 
REGIONAL 
COUNCIL

BARKLY REGIONAL 
COUNCIL

Roper Gulf Regional Council is located in the “Sunrise 
Country” on the eastern side of the Top End of the 
Northern Territory of Australia. It ranges from the 
southern Kakadu escarpment to the northern edge of 
the Barkly Tablelands and from the Queensland border, 
the western edge of the Gulf of Carpentaria to the west 
beyond the Stuart Highway.

Roper Gulf Regional Council covers an area of 
approximately 186,000 square kilometres; 2.7 times 
larger than Tasmania (68401 sq. km) and 80% of the 
land mass of Victoria (227416 sq. km).  

This vast bio-diverse area of tropical savannah, dry 
grasslands and open forest is marked by iron rich 
eroded sandstone, limestone escarpments and low 
mesas; part of the succession of low hills seen across 
much of the Region. The Roper Gulf Region is 
dissected by large old river systems including the Roper, 
Rose, McArthur, Robinson and Limmen Rivers. The 
combined annual flow of these big rivers is 11750 
gigalitres or the equivalent of 23 Sydney Harbours of 
water. The Katherine, Edith, Fergusson, East Alligator 
and King Rivers also have their headwaters within 
the Roper Gulf region. Ground water reserves are 
substantial in the region and feed many of the great 
river and aquifer systems of the Northern Territory.

The coastal area of the Roper Gulf consists of over 700 
kilometres of beach, mangrove swamp, river deltas, 
low coastal sea cliffs and islands. The Region is rich in 
unique fauna, flora and deposits of minerals. 

Roper Gulf Shire Council was formed in 2008 as an 
amalgamation of a number of smaller Community 
Councils and previously unincorporated land. It was 
renamed as Roper Gulf Regional Council in January 
2014.

The revised ABS 2011 population estimate is that there 
are approximately 7100 people living in the region. 
This equates to one person for every 26 sq kilometres, 
not that it is that evenly distributed with 61 % living in 
the Region’s 11 main towns. The region has a median 
age of 24 years; the region has a very young population.

Mineral wealth, agriculture/fisheries, the pastoral 
industry, services, adventure/eco tourism and the arts, 
which includes the Region’s unique festivals and art 
centres, are all parts of this new developing economy.

The Roper Gulf region is a dynamic mixture of the eons 
old and the modern and vibrant.
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Elected Members of Council 
The Roper Gulf Regional Council consists of 12 Elected Members from five Wards. Elected Members are elected 
through local government elections and by-elections.

As of 30 June 2015. The Elected Members are as follows:

Mayor 
Tony Jack
South West Gulf Ward

Deputy Mayor 
Judy MacFarlane
Never Never Ward

Never Never Ward

South West Gulf Ward

Yugul Mangi Ward

Councillor  
Timothy Baker Jnr.

Councillor  
Kathy-Anne 

Numamurdirdi
Councillor  

Annabelle Daylight

Numbulwar Numburindi Ward

Councillor  
Selina Ashley

Councillor  
John Dalywater

Councillor  
Anne Marie Lee

Nyirrunggulung Ward

Councillor  
Daniel Mulholland

Councillor  
Don Garner

Councillor 
Eric Roberts

Councillor  
Daphne Daniels
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Committees of Council
Roper Gulf Regional Council operated 
Committees of Council to assist with decision 
making during 2014-15. Representatives on those 
Committees are:

Finance Committee 
Mayor Tony Jack

Deputy Mayor Judy MacFarlane

Councillor Eric Roberts

Councillor Kathy-Anne Numamurdirdi

Councillor John Dalywater 

Independent Member Geoff Bishop

Community Grants Committee
Mayor Tony Jack

Deputy Mayor Judy MacFarlane

Councillor Eric Roberts

Councillor Annabelle Daylight

Audit Committee
Councillor Don Garner

Councillor Anne Marie Lee

Councillor Selina Ashley

Independent Member Phil Vivian

Independent Member Mark Griffioen

Youth Voice Committee
Youth Voice Committees were established in 
Borroloola, Ngukurr and Numbulwar and consist 
of young people from those towns. For 2014/15, 
only one meeting was held at Ngukurr.

Due to a resignation from Councillor Stan Allen 
on 10th February 2015, a by-election was held in 
the South West Gulf Ward on 19th March 2015. 
On 27th March 2015, Daniel Mulholland was 
declared the newest Elected Member of Council. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council would like to 
thank Stan Allen for the three years of  hard 
work and dedication he committed to his role.

Elected Member Attendance

Ordinary 
Meetings of 

Council

Finance 
Committee 

7 MEETINGS 5 MEETINGS

Name Attendance Attendance

 Mayor Tony Jack 71% 60%

Deputy Mayor Judy MacFarlane 100% 100%

Cr. Timothy Baker 71% N/A

Cr. Anne Marie Lee 43% N/A

Cr. Kathy-Anne Numamurdirdi 86% 80%

Cr. Selina Ashley 57% N/A

Cr. Annabelle Daylight 100% N/A

Cr. Daphne Daniels 86% N/A

Cr. John Dalywater 43% 80%

Cr. Eric Roberts 100% 100%

Cr. Daniel Mulholland 100% N/A

Cr. Don Garner 100% N/A

Cr. Stan Allen (out of 4 meetings) 25% N/A
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Report from Audit Committee 
This is the first Annual Report of 
the Roper Gulf Regional Council 
Audit Committee which covers the 
activities of the Committee for the 
period July 2014 to June 2015. The 
Committee was established by the 
Council in August 2014 to provide 
a link between the processes of 
the external auditors and Council 
and Council management, and to 

provide advice and assurance to the Council. 

The first Audit Committee held on 16 January 2015 
finalised the Terms of Reference for the committee which 
was then approved by Council on 28 January 2015.

The membership structure of the Committee for the 
2014/15 year was as resolved by Council with two external 
members and three Councillors as appointed by Council. 
As per the regulation one of the external members was 
appointed as Chairperson. Council appointed Mr Mark 
Griffioen as Chairperson of the Committee for first year of 
the committee. Mr Griffioen is a Fellow of the Australian 
Society of Certified Practicing Accountants, has had senior 
executive roles and has a diverse financial and commercial 
management background in organisations of varying size 
and complexity. He has particular expertise in accounting 
and finance, corporate governance, risk management, 
strategy development, policy development and significant 
Local Government experience both within Australia 
and overseas. Mr Griffioen has experience on audit and 
risk committees in government and community sector 
organisations. 

Mr Phil Vivian, the second external member on the 
Committee, is a Fellow of the Australian Society of 
Certified Practicing Accountants and a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. He has a 
breadth of senior executive experience in both the public 
and private sectors and has built successful businesses in 
agribusiness and consulting. Phil has particular expertise 
in financial management (having been the Chief Financial 
Officer for several organisations) and in governance, audit 
and audit committees, risk management and project 
management.

The Councillors who sat on the Committee for 2014/15 
were Cr Don Garner, Cr Selina Ashley and Cr Ann-Maree 
Lee. The meetings of the Roper Gulf Regional Council 
Audit Committee covered by this report were conducted 
or due to be conducted on: 

• 16 January 2015 
• 10 April 2015
• 12 June 2015 (postponed due to no Quorum being 

present. Meeting Held 10 July 2015)

Attendance 

Member
16 January 

2015
10 April 

2015
10 July 
2015

Cr Don Garner Present Present Present

Cr Selina Ashley Apology Apology Apology

Cr Anne Marie Lee Present Apology Apology

Mark Griffioen Present Present Present

Phil Vivian Present Present Present

Senior Staff of Council attend meetings, as required, 
to provide information and respond to audit 
recommendations.

During the year the committee reviewed and provided 
advice on the organisations draft risk management 
framework, recommended and reviewed the establishment 
of an organisation wide compliance diary, assisted 
in the assessment of tenders for the appointment of 
the organisations External Auditors and reviewed 
and provided guidance on the Department of Local 
Government and Community services’ Annual 
Compliance Review Program result for the Council. The 
committee assisted in the preparation of a draft work 
program to be undertaken by the Audit Committee and 
also discussed and assisted in the advancement of the 
organisations business continuity planning and internal 
audit program. Significant input by the committee 
was also made into the development of a Policy on the 
engagement of Council’s external auditors on other 
assignments.
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Local Authorities
The Roper Gulf Region has ten Local Authorities. 
Members of each Local Authority are elected by their 
community and reflect the composition of the local 
region. Each Local Authority meets six times a year. 

At the beginning of the year, meeting dates for local 
authorities are scheduled. If the meeting has to be 
cancelled or postpone for any reason, it is done so. All 
possible efforts are carried out to conduct at least six 
meeting per year per Local Authority.  

Local Authority Attendance

Barunga Local Authority –  
Six Meetings scheduled 

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Ruth Kelly 83.3%
Helen Lee 83.3%
Scott Lee 16.6%

David Oenpelli 66.6%
Anita Painter 100%
Jamie AhFat 66.6%

Beswick Local Authority –  
Six Meetings scheduled* 

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Sam Ashley 40% (Resigned May 2015
Adam Bostock 16%(Resigned May 2015)
Trephina Bush 33.3%

Deanna Kennedy 16%
Richard Kennedy 66%
Lorraine Bennett 100%

Joseph Brown 50%
Raelene Bulumbara 100% (Joined April 2015)

Sasha Ashley 33.3%

*At two  meetings no quorum,  informal meeting was held

Borroloola Local Authority –  
Six Meetings scheduled*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Trish Elmy 0%
Lizzie Hogan 66.6%
Geoff Hulm 33.3%
Chrissy Joll 40% (Resigned April 2015)

Marleen Karkadoo 50%
Mike Longton 66.6%

Maria Pyro 83.3%
Bernard Redfern 83.3%
Beatty Retchford 50%

Alison Doyle 16.6%
Shaun Cairns 40% (Resigned April 2015)
Annie Roberts 0% (Resigned April 2015)

*At one  meeting no quorum,  informal meeting was held

Bulman Local Authority –  
Six Meetings scheduled*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Margaret Lindsay 83.3%
Sally-Ann Sherman King 20% (Resigned April 2015)

Darilyn Martin 66.6%
Maggie Chikappa 83.33%

Jerry Martin 33.33%
Garett Lofty 33.33%
Esau Martin 50%

Christopher Gordon 50%

*One meeting was cancelled

Jilkminggan Local Authority –  
Six Meetings scheduled

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Adrian Doctor 50%
Cheryl Lardy 50%
Fay Roberts 50%
Wayne Roy 50%

Wendy Daylight 57.14%
Steven Rory 40%

Patrisha Baker 42.85%
Lisa McDonald 33%
Maxie Millar 66.7%
Aaron Holtze 0%

*One meeting cancelled)
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Manyallaluk Local Authority –  
Three Meetings scheduled*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Cynthia Williri 33.3%
Robert Williri 66.6%

Rosemary Sullivan 66.6%
Eileen Lawrence 0%

Isaac Dai 66.6%
Shaunette Mumbin 66.6%

Andrew Hood 0%

*(The local Authority was dissolved in July 2014 and  new nominations 
called. New Local Authority was established in November. The new Local 
Authority had three meetings in 2014/15 out of which one scheduled 
meeting had  no quorum and informal meeting was held)

Mataranka Local Authority –  
Seven  Meetings*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Diane Angel 85.7%
Michael Cowen 57.1%

Sue Edwards 85.71%
Allan Ekert 100% (Resigned August 2014)

Janette Hamilton 57.1%
Veronica Russo 80%(Resigned March 2015)

Tracey-Anne Wilson 85.71%
Leah Niehus 100%

Di Jones 66.6%(Joined August 2014)
Alan Chapman 100% (Joined April 2015)
Michael Somers 100% (Joined April 2015)

*One special meeting was organised in June 2015

Hodgson Downs Local Authority – 
 Four scheduled  Meetings*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Maryanne Vincent 50%
Susan Sammy 50%(Resigned in March)

Samuel Swanson 75%
Johnathon Walla 75%
Ken Muggeridge 75%
James Nuggett 0%

Caroline Vincent 25%

*One scheduled meeting had no quorum and informal meeting was held

Ngukurr Local Authority –  
Six Meetings*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Jerry Ashley 33.3%
Ian Gumbula 66.6%

Bobby Nunggumajbarr 83.3%
Andrew Robertson 50%
Carol Robertson 16%

Robin Rogers 33.3%
Walter Rogers 66.6%

Grant Thompson 33.3%
Olga Daniels 50%
Peter Daniels 66.6%
Keith Rogers 50%
Gwen Rami 0%
Tanya Joshua 100%

*At one scheduled meeting there was no quorum and informal meeting 
was held

Numbulwar Local Authority –  
Five Meetings*

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE 

Selena Uibo 80%
Douglas Wunungmurra 80%
Cheryl Nundhirribala 20%

Christopher Spicer 0%
David Murrungun 20%

Ella Geia 80%
Felicity Rami 80%

*The local Authority was dissolved in July 2014 and new nominations 
well called. New Local Authority was established in November. There 
were five scheduled Meetings one of which had no quorum.
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Roper Gulf Regional Council measures 
the effectiveness and efficiencies of its 
operation. This section explains the 
Council’s performance against the town 
priorities that were detailed in the Roper 
Gulf Regional Council Regional Plan 
2014-2015. It also highlights the Council’s 
achievements for the year 2014-2015.

REPORT ON
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE



REPORT ON
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE

SECTION 2



DELIVERY  
OF TOWN  
PRIORITIES 
IN THE  
REGION
Each community within the Roper Gulf region is unique. 
Town priorities give the members of these communities the 
opportunity to express what is important to them and the areas 
in which they would like to see improvement. 

The Town Priority projects that are listed in this section are 
a product of community consultation in the service delivery 
areas of Roper Gulf Regional Council. Consultations with 
RGRC residents, stakeholders, local authorities, elected 
members of Council and staff have ensured the listed priorities 
are up to date and relevant. 

Town priorities are divided into Core Services, Agency 
Services, Contract Services and Other/ Advocacy to ensure easy 
delegation and management through the directorate structure 
once funding has been secured. As many of the projects require 
Council to seek further funding, some Priorities roll over from 
one year to the next.
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New fences enhance Barunga

A project to fence 22 houses in Barunga was completed in 
2014/2015. The project enclosed individual residential lots with 
ring mesh fencing and gates and was completed by Council’s 
Housing Maintenance and Outstations teams utilising local RJCP 
participants.

Robbie Campbell, Council Service Manager in town says that the 
project has had some clear benefits for the growing town. 

“As well as clearly defining personal spaces and giving a neater 
appearance to the town, the new fencing keeps dogs in yards and 
we now have less wandering dogs and the problems that goes 
with that. There is also noticeably less litter blowing around. 
This is a win for the town and I think it is part of making 
people more proud of their town and making it easier to 
maintain”.

Barunga

Project Details

Unit 
Responsible/ 
Lead Agency Status as at 30 June 2015

By-laws to reduce and control number of dogs and 
control noises

DCSI Ongoing in conjunction with LGANT

Footpaths around the town to enable old people and 
children to move through the township without having 
to use roadways.

DCSI This is part of Right Path Project, equipment 
purchased, installation to occur in 2015-16

Entry grids and stock exclusion fencing DoI Ongoing - seeking external funding

Improve traffic management and increase signage. DCSI Signage purchased, installation to occur in 
2015-16
Funding for design and documentation for 
heavy vehicle access to store

22 fences around dwelling DHsg Completed

Activities for youth 10 years and over in the community 
to keep them engaged

DCS Ongoing through Sports and Recreation 
Programs

Program for school leavers to have a future pathway.  RJCP Ongoing through RJCP

Community social club and promote responsible 
drinking – as part of the Alcohol Management Plan.

DoJ DPMC 
Sponsoring Club

Ongoing

Community crèche to provide vocational/child care for 
working parents

DSS Completed – NT Education has provided this 
service.

SECTION 2  |  REPORT ON COUNCIL PERFORMANCE 21



Beswick horticulture program to focus on Indigenous planting

The Roper Gulf Regional town 
of Beswick located about 110 
kilometres east of Katherine ran 
a new horticultural training and 
development program completed 
in 2014/15. The neat little town, 
already an oasis in the region, 
received new plantings of Indigenous 
fruiting and medicinal trees and 
bushes as a bonus outcome of the 

employment training project as ran by the Roper 
Gulf Regional Council Remote Jobs in Community 
Program (RJCP) and the Bachelor Institute. The project 
prepared an irrigation systems and large improved soil 

beds for planting of Indigenous medicinal herbs and 
bush tucker plants which will be an ongoing part of the 
employment training program in the town.

Ten RJCP participants completed a Certificate II in 
Horticulture. A second phase of the project involved 
ten women also doing the Certificate II in Horticulture. 
Experience and skills that have been learnt are readily 
transferable qualifications in the horticulture and related 
industries. 

Beswick has a long history of horticulture going back to 
its early days. Its rich alluvial soils, secure water supply 
and good community support makes it an ideal location 
for the project.

Beswick (Wugularr)

Project Details

Unit 
Responsible/ 
Lead Agency Status as at 30 June 2015

Entry Grids and stock exclusion fencing DCSI Ongoing – Seeking external funding

Community graffiti boards, graffiti paint common buildings 
including SDC, Sport and Recreation buildings 

DCSI Ongoing

Light the footpath to the new subdivision DCSI Completed through NTG Special 
Purpose Grant

Provide safe, secure and quality infrastructure to areas of high 
volume activity

DCSI Ongoing

Solar Lights at designated areas to target hidden dark spots DCSI Completed

Complete the Billabong Heritage Park DCSI Started and near completion 

Formalise landscapes by tree planting, pathways, drinking 
fountains, park benches, shade area, community barbeque area, 
bollards and parking areas

DCSI Commenced upgrade to lot 57 & 
58 providing public toilets, solar 
lighting, stage and coverage area.

Kerb and gutter in new sub-division DCSI Ongoing

Stormwater drainage in new sub-division DCSI Ongoing

Relocate oval DSS/ DPMC Ongoing

Establishment of an Action Group to move forward  - driver 
education to reduce number of accidents caused from 
unlicensed, intoxicated and/or speeding drivers

GEC / DoJ Ongoing through RJCP Driver 
Education Program

Central Arnhem Road traffic calming devices. DoI Liaison with Department
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Borroloola

Project Details
Unit Responsible/ 

Lead Agency Status as at 30 June 2015

Traffic Management Plan Stage - 1 DCSI  Ongoing in 2015-16 and incorporates the CBD 
upgrade and stage I of the Right Path Project

Waste Management Strategy for 
Borroloola including links to Regional 
Strategy

DCSI RGRC is developing a whole of Council approach 
to waste management incorporating a Regional 
Waste Management Strategy aligned  to a Big 
Rivers Regional Waste Management Strategy

Storm water audit, water channelling and 
erosion control for existing drains

DCSI  Ongoing in 2015-16 

Town and camp drainage plans DCSI RGRC to continue to advocate on behalf of 
resident with the relevant authority

Upgrade oval DCSI Ongoing in 2015-16 incorporating the 
establishment of Soft ball Oval and coaches boxes 
and upgrading other amenities 

Develop Pool Management Plan DCSI Incorporated in Sports and Recreation Master 
Plan. Draft is expected late 2015.

New lights for town and suburb to 
eliminate dark spots

DCSI  Completed

By-laws for dog management DCSI / 
Governance

Council has current By-laws which are being 
enforced

Advocate for more public Housing DoI  Completed

Develop further public internet access 
and upgrade mobile phone

DoB  Ongoing

Advocate for improved range of public, 
private and commercial accommodation 
in the region.

DHsg Proposed land release commenced by DLPE

Removal of buffer zone around the power 
station to enable business development

DLGCS Completed

Searcy Street - Bing Bond Road Culverts DoI Ongoing through liaison with DoI

Provide advice and support for the trade 
training centre development

DoE  Completed

Provide advice and support for the multi 
purpose centre

MRM CBT  Ongoing
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Strategic planning a first step in preparing Borroloola’s roads and drains for the next decade.

Borroloola is the largest town 
in the Roper Gulf region. The 
town and surrounding suburbs 
are growing rapidly and with 
that development there is 
a need for better strategic 
planning processes especially 
around infrastructure.

The ad hoc development 
of the town has left 

infrastructure that has not kept up with the 
demands and growth of a modern urban town. 

Borroloola’s Town priorities for 2014/15 focussed 
on the need for strategic infrastructure plans to be 
developed.

 In response a road safety audit was completed in 
conjunction with the Department of Transport, 
to inform Council of appropriate local area traffic 
management treatments to the Borroloola CBD. 
The project will also incorporate the development 
of pedestrian crossings and stage 1 of the Right Path 
project, constructing footpaths, providing safe avenues 
to residents to cross the busy Robinson road.

Council has also 
attracted funds from the 
Department of Transport 
to address the inadequate 
and aged storm water 
infrastructure in the 
CBD.

New solar lighting for Borroloola

RGRC was successful in receiving funding from 
Department of Local Government and Community 
Services to address the issue of public safety in our 
parks and public spaces. Borroloola Local Authority 
identified four priority target areas including the 
park/toilet area at the McCarthur River Bridge on 
Carpentaria highway, the entry to Tamarind Park, the 
entry to the Borroloola Cemetery and the entry to the 
Borroloola Sports Grounds. 

The Borroloola Council Service Manager Nathan 
McIvor commented “I am happy about where the solar 
lights are now, it draws attention to areas traditionally 
in the dark, which lightens up the overall look of 

Borroloola and improves public safety and use of these 
public spaces”. 

The Department of Infrastructure Tennant Creek 
supplied a new wind sock system which has increased 
the lighting and safety at the Borroloola aerodrome. 
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Bulman and Weemol 

Project Details

Unit 
Responsible/ 
Lead Agency

Status as at  
30 June 2015

BULMAN

Development of new VOQ DCSI  Commenced, to be 
completed early 2015-16

Dust suppression and park areas – grade to remove rocks, 
topsoil and lawn.

DCSI  Ongoing 

Office upgrade DCSI Commenced, to be 
completed early 2015-16

Solar lights at the park DCSI  Completed 

Fix wet season access to ensure septic pump truck has all 
weather access

DLGR  Completed

WEEMOL

Install solar lights - light up the dark spot  DCSI  Completed 

Improve park furniture DCSI  Ongoing 

Bulman and Weemol receives major upgrades

The Roads to Recovery program from the Federal 
Government and Natural Disaster Relief and 
Recovery Arrangements (NDRRA) from NT 
Government RGRC provided funding for an 
extensive upgrade to the Weemol access and the 
development of the new road to service existing 
houses without formal access. The Department of 
Infrastructure provided extensive funds to upgrade 
the central Arnhem Highway Bulman and Bulman 
Airstrip, an area of road that receives high traffic and 
extensive flooding annually. Council and the Local 
Authority advocated on behalf of the residents to 
ensure this central infrastructure was upgraded. 

Another exciting development for Bulman and 
Weemol was the Store. The Council provided 

technical advice with regards to the central servicing 
of the store and allocated space within the road 
reserve for new water service.  

New solar lights have also been erected in the near 
by park and the main road to improve safety and use 
of the parks and open spaces in town. The Council 
will continue to reduce informal tracks and traffic to 
stop the level of dust 
and wind blowing 
through the town. 
This will reduce the 
impact on eye, ear 
and nose health 
using bollard and 
vehicle barriers. 
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Daly Waters 

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  

30 June 2015

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU with Daly Waters Progress 
Association

DCG  Ongoing

Infrastructure development program at Roy Beebe Park including 
playground and reticulated sprinklers

DCS-NT Sprinklers completed

Playground under review

Community Meetings held in Larrimah and Daly Waters

In 2014 the Northern Territory Government responded 
to the Local Government Review by naming prescribed 
Local Authorities for each Local Government Regional 
Council. Daly Waters and Larrimah although 
considered small townships in their own right did not 
have sufficient population to be considered to have a 
Local Authority. 

As part of RGRC’s commitment to these small towns 
with dedicated residents, the bi-yearly Community 
Meeting was agreed to by Council and residents. This 
has worked very well with a meeting space set up on 
the side road at Larrimah where residents attend. A 
meeting at the Daly Waters Pub for Daly Waters and 
surrounding stations residents was also held. 

The combined permanent population of these towns is 
less than 20 people and the catchment populations of 
surrounding Pastoral Stations not much more. Local 
residents and Council still wanted a regular mechanism 
for two way communications.  To do this it was decided 
to hold half yearly community meetings and for local 
Ward Councillors and the Council Service Manager 
from Mataranka to do regular visits.

The first of the 2014/2015 half yearly meetings were 
held in late November 2014 and the second meeting 
was held on 6 May 2015 between a small but interested 
resident group and Council Officers.

An update of township priorities was given and some 
new priorities developed. The residents of both small 
towns are keen to improve the physical amenity of their 
towns and several key issues were raised. 

Reactivating the town bore at Larrimah, which has been 
off line for a number of years, was strongly supported. 
This will address issues of public space watering and 
improve water security in the small town. It will allow 
some beautification of parks around the historical 
tourist town. Council will undertake some works in the 
near future to reactivate the bore.

At Daly Waters continued development of the old post 
office and police station and adjacent tennis court was 
seen as important.

The short section of by pass road at Daly Waters was 
also identified as needing some hard base fill especially 
in the wet season. Several possible solutions were 
suggested at the meeting.

Works related to dump sites in both towns were also 
discussed. Both towns have small progress associations 
who undertake maintenance and organise some 
community activities.

The meetings also enabled some clarification of contract 
roles and responsibilities. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council is keen to support our 
small and isolated townships both as community hubs 
and important tourism and historical locations.
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Larrimah

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  

30 June 2015

Formalise the Dump and Waste Management Plan. DCSI Included in Regional Waste 
Management Strategy

Review improvements to the Park area at Lot 62 (subject to the 
transfer of lease from Larrimah Development Association to 
RGRC).

DCSI  Ongoing

Internal road repairs. DCSI  Ongoing

Larrimah to be an inspiration for Territory writers

Take a leisurely drive south of Katherine through 
Mataranka, the temporary home of Jeannie Gunn 
author of “We of the Never Never”, across the 
mystical Warloch Ponds and when the country 
starts to dry and flatten you get to the lost hamlet of 
Larrimah. 

Not actually lost but easy to miss. Except for the 
eccentrically decorated “Pink Panther” Larrimah Pub 
and Zoo and Fran’s famous Tea Shop most travellers 
would simply drive through without seeing it.

Larrimah, a tiny town of a dozen or so permanent 
residents located approximately 80 kilometres south 
of Mataranka is about to find a new lease of life as a 
writers’ hub.

In a recently announced joint project between the 
Roper Gulf Regional Council and the NT Writers 
Centre a derelict heritage building located near the 
Larrimah Museum will be renovated as a writer’s 
residency. The residency will allow budding and 
established writers an opportunity to focus on 
their writing and research in a quiet and evocative 
environment.

Roper Gulf Regional Council at its recent Council 
Meeting agreed to support the project through an 
extended “peppercorn” rental agreement with the 
Northern Territory Writers Centre. The building 
which is also being considered for Heritage listing has 
been surveyed for renovation work which will begin 
soon. 

The funding for this project has come as a result of 
a bequest from the estate of Territory writer Andrew 
Mc Millan who died in January 2012 and is buried 
on the banks of the nearby Birdum Creek.

Andrew McMillan, the NT Writer of the year in 
2009, was a prolific author who spent a much of his 
later life writing and researching in the Larrimah area 
and recognised in this unique location  as a place to 
contemplate, relax, research and write. 

Larrimah, which means “meeting place” in local 
language, has a rich history of indigenous land 
stewardship, colonial exploration, the building of the 
Overland Telegraph, railways and the iconic cattle 
industry. 

This history still resonates loudly in the region.
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Larrimah has however steadily declined since its hey 
day as part of the Birdum /Gorrie Airfield complex 
during the Second World War and with the closing of 
the old rail head in the 1970.

Larrimah’s rich wartime history and its part and role 
in the old Overland Telegraph line are celebrated by 
the Larrimah Museum and along with the old railway 
siding are popular tourist attractions. The new writers’ 
residency will add to this cultural precinct and may 
attract a new community of artists and writers in time.

Roper Gulf Regional Council Mayor Tony Jack said of 
the project, 

“Larrimah is typical of small towns whose purpose 
for existence is now long gone with the moving of 
the railways, but still clings on as tourist areas and as 
quiet places to live. The spirit of the past lives on here 
in Larrimah and it will be ideal as a retreat to relax, 
research and write. 

The land around here has been an inspiration for 
artists going back 10’s of thousands of years and new 
Territorians are starting to find this same inspiration in 
our country.

The Roper Gulf Regional Council is excited to be part 
of this project and hopes it will be a bit of a trigger for 
a broader blooming in this special part of the world.”

The Larrimah Writers Residency will be unique in the 
NT but similar to residential arts projects in other 
states which have successfully promoted new and 
emerging writers and artists.

In the not too distant future it hoped the Larrimah 
Writers centre will encourage a new and emerging 
group of great Northern Territory writers, poets and 
play writers to put pen to paper or fingers to keyboard 
to write inspired by one of the Territory’s hidden 
treasures. 

Jilkminggan

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  

30 June 2015

Footpaths next to main roads. DCSI Right Path project purchased 
footpath kit as per funding from NT 
Community Corrections Program

Traffic management - Parking area near shop, no standing 
area  and pedestrian island in front of shop

DCSI Ongoing pending the development of 
the Store

Upgrade of fencing around the oval to prevent animals 
accessing area

DCSI Incorporated in Sports and Recreation 
Master Plan. Draft is expected late 
2015.

Dark spot lighting - street lighting to improve road safety, 
corner near SDC, near workshop and access road

DCSI Completed

Install grids and stock exclusion fencing. DCSI Seek external funding in partnership 
with NLC

Play equipment at Sport and Recreation area  Sports and 
Recreation

Jilkminggan LA project funding will 
target to upgrade play equipment
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Manyallaluk

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  

30 June 2015

Cemetery fencing DCSI Completed

Entry Grids and Stock Exclusion fencing DCSI Seek External funding with partnership 
with NLC

Installation of Sports Oval between town and 
single men’s quarters

S&R Incorporated in Sports and Recreation 
Master Plan. Draft is expected late 2015.

Increase housing DHsg Addition of 2 x duplexes - Completed

A safety net for Manyallaluk

When I was a kid if you hit the ball over the fence 
in backyard cricket you were out. If you kicked the 
footy onto the roof it was a serious social error. A 
broken window caused instant massed retreat and 
adult anger.

At the Manyallaluk basketball court and sports area 
the sanction for causing a ball to go off the court 
was you had to go get it and often it went into the 
yards of houses just down the way or worse on the 
road. Cheeky dogs, poor light and lost balls made it 
a real task and a delay in the play, almost as bad as 
when someone stole the ball at the footy when it was 
kicked into the crowd or over the fence.

But they have a solution at Manyallaluk. 

The Local Member Bess Price MLA supplied a 
generous grant that was used to construct a wire 
mesh fence at the end and side of the of the court to 
increase functionality and children’s safety. RGRC is 
still seeking more funding to do cementing works. 

Anne-Maree Low the Council Services Manager at 
Manyallaluk is very pleased with the results so far.

“The higher fence at the end of the basketball court 
and the new fencing along the edge of the street, 
have made positive changes for children wishing to 
use the basketball court at Manyallaluk. Children 
no longer have to scale the neighbours back fence to 
fetch a wayward ball. The community now has peace 
of mind knowing that children chasing a ball down 
the grassy slope on the side of the basketball court 
will no longer run blindly onto the main road.” 
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Mataranka including Mulggan Camp

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  

30 June 2015

Road repairs and upgrades: Warlock St is a priority 
followed by Beswick St, Sterling St, Gunn St, Conway 
St’s drainage and Dump Road.

DCIS Ongoing

Drainage at Elsey street. DCSI & DoI Commenced discussion

Upgrade toilets at Community Hall, add another toilet 
for wheel chair access and remove eucalyptus tree near.

RGRC Commenced – quotes received

Upgrade rodeo arena and announcers box Assets and RJCP Completed

Lot 84  - development of Regional Recycling Centre 
Business Plans

DCSI Stage – I Anti EPA Grant upgraded 
essential services and fencing on side.

Stage II Anti EPA Grant to complete 
educational awareness, signage and 
traffic management at the site

Museum upgrade Assets and RJCP Commenced community  consultation

Security for protecting public assets from vandalism, 
security lighting, CCTV and fencing in all identified 
areas including the SDC, sports ground, workshop 
compounds, main roads etc. 

RGRC Commenced

Tree planting, pathways, drinking fountains, park 
benches, shade area, community bbq areas, bollards and 
parking areas. 

RJCP & DCSI Seeking Funding

Solar lights at designated areas to target hidden spots, 
solar lights for ovals, parks and recreational areas

DCSI Completed

Multi-function covered court in sport and recreation 
grounds. Stage two to enclose the court and add toilet 
and shower

DCSI RGRC unsuccessful in Community 
Benefit Fund

Skate park DCSI Commenced

Acquisition of a Sport and Recreation bus for Mataranka S&R and 
Finance

Completed

Land release DoI Commenced, to be completed 2015-16

Lighting in park, car park, sport and recreation grounds 
and truck parking bays

DoI Completed

Investigate options for Aged Care facility and Child Care 
Centre

DoH/DoE Application for feasibility study 
was submitted to the Indigenous 
Advancement Strategy Round 1and was 
unsuccessful. 
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“RRRodeo-deo-eo-ooo!..”, echoed the announcers box.

Mataranka, the heart of the Never Never is renowned 
for its outback lifestyle and one of the best example 
is of this is the annual Mataranka rodeo. This year 
Roper Gulf Regional Council provided new fencing 
and a new announcer’s box at the Rodeo ground. This 
has both made the rodeo experience more exciting 
and safer for riders and watchers. Along with the 
new lighting in the car park the arena upgrades are 
brightening up this important community asset. 

As well as at the rodeo arena, Roper Gulf Regional 
Council has also erected several new energy efficient 
solar lights to illuminate the truck parking bays 

along the Stuart highway in Mataranka’s town strip. 
These formerly dark areas where heavy vehicles and 
pedestrians transition and stop are much safer now.

The new public toilets for Mulggan

A new public toilet and ablution facility was built 
to service Mulggan Camp at Mataranka to alleviate 
impacts on residents in overcrowded houses at the 
camp as well as providing this essential service to 
visitors.

The Mulggan Camp facility was funded by the 
Department of Community Services Outstations 
Municipal and Essential services funding.

There still is a shortage of public toilets and communal 
facilities in some of our towns, these are an important 
addition to existing facilities and provide an important 
part of public hygiene and visitor services in our 
growing towns.
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Hodgson Downs/Minyerri

Hodgson Downs also known as Minyerri located 
approximately 250kms south west of Katherine is in the 
Never Never Ward. The town has about 450 persons and 
the key service provider for town is the Alawa Aboriginal 
Corporation. Roper Gulf Regional Council provides 
operational funds to the Corporation annually for them 
to deliver core local government services. Night Patrol 
services are provided directly though RGRC agency 
services.  

Council is committed to ensuring the best service delivery 
model and has established the Hodgson Downs Local 
Authority to ensure the residents have a voice with the 
Roper Gulf Regional Council. 

The first meeting of the Hodgson Downs Local Authority 
on the 20th August 2014 marked the completion of the 
establishment of ten Local Authorities in the Roper Gulf 
Regional Council.

The Northern Territory Government’s Regional 
Governance Review in 2013 directed Local Government 

to establish Local Authorities in their regions to represent 
local communities in planning and local issues.

Mayor Tony Jack congratulated all involved for getting 
the Hodgson Downs Local Authority established and 
for completing the process of establishing all ten Local 
Authorities.

“Establishing ten Local Authorities and making 
them sustainable is a huge task but our Council and 
communities have achieved this when many others are still 
just getting started.

Roper Gulf Regional Council can now boast ten Local 
Authorities that give communities a direct voice to 
council. Local Authorities give local communities an 
important opportunity to be involved and influence local 
decision making.

I encourage people to develop a strong voice for their 
community by being involved in their local Authorities 
both as members or by talking regularly with their local 
members,” he said. 
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Ngukurr 

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  
30 June 2015

Solar lighting DCSI Stage-I Completed

Strategically locate bus stops through town DCSI At planning stage

Right Path Project: commence installation of 
footpaths, associated landscaping and park 
furniture

DCSI Commenced utilising NT Community 
Corrections Program

Entry grids and stock exclusion fencing DCSI Seek external funding and partnership with NLC

Develop school safety zone and bus parking 
zone

DSCI Commenced through NTG LATM : road safety 
audit completed, black spot funding application 
for construction of LATM treatment successful

Entrance signage and internal directional 
signage

DSCI Commenced

Upgrade dump and surrounds to improve 
waste management

DSCI Commenced

Development of a permanent heavy vehicle 
truck stop and turning bay with road signage

DCSI Application submitted to the National Stronger 
Regions Fund with inkind support from NTG 
Department of Transport

Development of a multi-purpose centre DCSI NTG DoT Funding received to conduct a 
feasibility study to ensure that Council has 
adequate ongoing operational cost for the facility

Development of new lawn cemetery including 
fencing

Governance and 
DCSI

Consultation commenced

Fencing off the Cemetery site DCSI and RJCP Consultation commenced

Upgrade compactor truck Assets Funded in 2015-16 capital expenditure

Roads to Recovery DCSI Upgraded Mutju street, installed: concrete cause 
way and storm water outlet

Request Government to provide more 
maintenance from Roper Bar to Urapunga

NTG Council subcontracts Yugul Mangi Development 
Corp to do maintenance work at Roper Highway

Improvement to Roper Bar and Wilton River 
crossings

NTG Bridgeworks to commence late 2015

Working partnership to support small business 
developments; develop a government business 
and service centre

DCSI Ongoing

RJCP assess fencing requirements for houses 
and develop a fencing program

DLGR, DHsg and 
DSS

Ongoing – Top camp area completed, materials 
purchased
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Snapshot of Engineering Plan for Ngukurr Traffic Plan 

Calm roads and safe footpaths – a new traffic plan for Ngukurr

Roper Gulf Regional Council has announced 
the development of a plan to build safe road and 
pedestrian links between the Ngukurr School and 
Shop areas. The key parts of the plan are:

• Development of a heavy transport hub and loading 
area on the edge of town

• Building a 400 metre pedestrian path linking the 
school, shop and civic facilities

• Provision of new parking bays and pedestrian and 
storm water culvert crossings at the School and 
Shop

• Six new solar street lights along the pedestrian path
• Upgrades to Rainbow Street curbs, drainage and 

footpaths
• Planting 700 Indigenous medicine and food trees 

along the path and roads.
This substantial works program is a response to a 
recent Council road safety audit which highlighted 
safety issues and infrastructure deficits in Ngukurr 
which is home to more than 1300 people. 

This regional town has experienced rapid development 
and an increase in vehicle traffic usage in recent year 
damaging the integrity and safety of local roads. Much 
of the traffic movement in this largely pedestrian town 
is around the school and shop precinct and there is 
little separation of pedestrians and vehicle traffic.

Roper Gulf Regional Council Mayor Tony Jack, 
outlined the project plan saying,  

“The town’s main street runs from the School to the 
Shop and includes most of our community facilities. 
New housing along “Rainbow Street” has also 
increased the risk of vehicle and pedestrian accidents 
due to increased number of vehicles and pedestrians 
using the street which has no footpaths. 

These minor roads were built for a much smaller 
town and never designed to carry current traffic loads. 
They are little more than sealed tracks, not formed or 
built to industry standard ... simply dust suppression 
measures from the last era of Local Government. 
We want to keep Ngukurr as a safe walking town by 
getting pedestrians off roads onto footpaths.

The project aims to install traffic calming devices 
at the junction of Mutju Street and main road, 
Rainbow Street intersection at the store and the 
main intersection at the Council Office. The Black 
spot funding received from the Northern Territory 
Government will allow Council to construct according 
to the Local Area Traffic Management Plan.

The Right Path Project will ensure that these 
intensive points of activity are connected by concrete 
footpaths which will not only provide participation 
opportunities for Community Work Order clients but 
also RJCP participants. 

Works on the pedestrian path, solar lighting and 
planting of medicinal tree has been undertaken. Other 
major works are scheduled for the coming year. 
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Numbulwar

Project Details
Unit Responsible 

/ Lead Agency
Status as at  
30 June 2015

Build public toilets at waterfront and 
airstrip

DCSI LA has used their project grant to establish public 
toilet block at the Numbulwar Airport. To be 
completed 2015-16

Extend bitumen roads from community to 
airstrip

DCSI Work commenced July’15

Establish new dump site and decommission 
old dump

DCSI Funding sourced via NTG DoT, project to 
commence 2015-16

Right Path Project DCSI Planning commenced, to be continued in 2015-16

New cemetery and ongoing management DCSI Ongoing in 2015-16

Pedestrian crossing at community store, 
school, Newtown Store and clinic

DCSI Ongoing in 2015-16 

Improve traffic management at barge and 
workshop areas

DCSI Incorporated into Ngukurr and Numbulwar 
Heavy vehicle and freight hub project 2015-16

Curb, guttering and drain management to 
control storm water at school and along 
main road to the CBD

DCSI CBD upgrade of drains and road commenced at 
planning stage

Provide youth leadership courses to develop 
leadership skills for youth across the Region 
and pathways to employment

RJCP and YS Continuing 2015-16

Working partnership to support the 
small business developments; develop a 
government business and service centre

 Council successful in getting fund feasibility study 
on the development of a Government Business 
and Service Centre

Develop arts and craft centre GEC and 
Numbulwar 

School

Commenced – Council provided Community 
Benefit Grant Round-1 to Numbulwar School  to 
support the construction of a pop up Arts and 
Crafts Centre
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Works underway on Numbulwar airport road

The bulldozers and graders have fired up and 
have pushed the first sections of dirt of the new 
Numbulwar airport road.

Director of Contracts and Technical Services Marc 
Gardner is excited. 

“This has been in the pipeline for nearly ten years 
and it is great to get it started. This will give us an all 
weather road linking the town and airport even in the 
worst wet season conditions.

During the wet the airport is an essential link for 
Numbulwar and the outside world”

The $1.65 million project has been jointly funded by 
the Australian and Northern Territory Governments 
and the Roper Gulf Regional Council. It is expected 
to be completed in early November, just in time for 
the wet.

The project involves new drainage, curbing and 
sheeting and the development of an intersection 
to improve safety of vehicle entering into the 
Numbulwar road. 

Numbulwar new Training Centre brightens up visitor stays

Accommodation for visitors and facilities for training 
programs were issues at Numbulwar, Roper Gulf ’s 
town on the beautiful Gulf of Carpentaria, but with 
the completion of the new Training Centre and the 
refurbishment of three staff housing units a new 
standard of accommodation has been set.

The training centre includes seven industry standard 
accommodation rooms and quality meeting and 
training spaces.

The new training centre was funded by the old 
Community Development Employment Program 
(CDEP) and construction and management was 
funded by the NT Government Department of 
Business.

Council Services Manager Roger McIvor says the 
facility is in heavy demand.

“During the wet season it is almost fully booked out. 
Bush Court sits there every couple of months and 

Centrelink uses it during their regular visits. It’s also a 
great venue for our staff and Local Authority meetings. 
We are now able to easily run a whole range of 
trainings here, so important in developing work skills.”

“We have almost completed extensive refurbishment 
of three units to be used for staff housing and have 
completed building of a new park near the workshop. 
The park, just down from the Training Centre 
overlooks the coast and the low hills behind and will 
have a rock centre feature made of rock recovered from 
the civil works in preparation of the new airport road.  
We will also put a BBQ in and some street furniture.” 
Mr McIvor added.

As well as the parks and gardens works 39 new street 
native trees have been established to green up some 
of the nearby roads and paths. Numbulwar teams 
have also been busy building new fencing around the 
basketball court and Aged Care building.
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Outstations
In partnership with the Northern Territory Government’s Department of Local Government and Community Services, 
Roper Gulf Regional Council delivered the following services for the year 2014-2015:

Werenbun 

• Twice weekly services checks and rubbish collections
• Weekly water filters servicing
• Various minor housing R&M 
• Various minor electrical repairs
• Weed control in and around outstation 
• HEA - applications
• HEA – agreed works to lots 10A & 10B 
• Mowing and brush-cutting around housing and 

infrastructure
• Tidy-up dump site with bobcat
• Removal of 4 x old car bodies to dump site
• Replace toilet cisterns in ablution block
• Electrical repairs to irrigation pump
• SPG – install new river backup water mains to tanks 
• Repairs to street lights  

Jodetluk 

• Twice weekly services checks 
• Fortnightly- refill chloride tablets in sewer treatment 

tank
• Weekly rubbish collection 
• Mowing and brush-cutting around housing and 

infrastructure
• Weed control in and around outstation
• Minor housing repairs
• HEA - applications
• Weekly water meter readings
• Weekly rotation of  sewer effluent sprinklers
• Remove 5 x truck loads of rubbish eg: beds, fridges 

washing machines   

Mulgan Camp 

•  Weed control of sewer effluent evaporation area 
• Various Minor housing R&M 

• Weekly cleaning of ablution block
• Various minor plumbing repairs
• Weed control in and around outstation 
• Weekly services checks
• Electrical safety inspections to all houses
• Repairs to ablution block septic system
• Repairs to street lights
• House 6 – replace damaged water main  

Mt Catt

•  Weekly services check and rubbish collection
•  weed control 
• MES SPG repaired and replaced fencing of homeland 

area

Barapunta

•  Fire and weed control in and around outstation
• Fortnightly services check   

Bagetti
•  Unoccupied – No funding available  

Mobarn

•  Unoccupied – No funding available
• MES SPG installed new portable water pump and 

upgrade water reticulation system  

Badawarka 

•  Weed control
• Weekly services check
• Service of gen-set and water pump
• Weekly rubbish collection
• MES SPG – Installation of new overhead power supply
• MES SPG Replacement of underground water 

reticulation
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Turkey lagoon
•  Unoccupied – No funding available  

Costello

•  Fire and weed control
• Clear around community with bobcat ( ant beds & 

small shrubs ) 
• Weekly MES checklist
• Re-install water pump – fill water tanks
• No service during wet season due to inability to access 

homeland

Boomerang lagoon

•  Unoccupied – No funding available 
• MES SPG replaced water tank  

Nummerloori

•  Access to Numerloori was late march – 
• Rubbish collection
• Reinstall water pump
• Brush–cutting and mowing around outstation
• MES SPG repaired and replaced fencing of homeland 

area 

Ganiyarrang (Rosehill )

•  MES checklist
• Fire and weed control
• Re – install water pump – fill tanks
• No service during wet season due to inability to access 

homeland 

Wanmarrie

•  MES checklist
• Fire and weed control
• No service during wet season due to inability to access 

homeland 

Lake Katherine
•  Unoccupied – No funding available  

Nullawan 

• Weekly MES checklist
• Install fire break around outstation
• Re- install water pump – fill tanks
• Minor plumbing repairs  
• Service gen set
• MES SPG repaired and replaced fencing of homeland 

area
• No service during wet season due to inability to access 

homeland

Mole Hill

• MES – checklist
• Reinstall river water pump
• HEA – applications 
• Fortnightly rubbish collection  

Momob
•  Unoccupied – No funding available  

Kewyuli

• Took over as service provider in January 2015
• Weekly rubbish collection
• MES checklist
• HEA – applications
• Repairs to ride-on mower
• Repairs to 3 x brush-cutters
• MES SPG purchased materials for repairs and 

replacement of fencing around homeland. Works 
October 2015

• MES SPG purchased new bobcat for use at all 
homelands 
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AN EVENTFUL  
YEAR AT  

ROPER GULF
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Barunga Festival Celebrated its 30th Anniversary

Barunga Festival this year celebrated its 30th 
anniversary and it is safe to say it has become an 
institution. Over 3000 people, 10 times the normal 
population, attended the festival this year attracted 
by great head line and local bands, unique cultural 
experiences and when too much sport is not enough, 
the very best of local sport.

People travelled from across Australia to attend this 
premier Indigenous cultural event. The economic 
multiplier makes this an important regional and a 
territory event. It is also a very local event where 
people meet, play sport, dance and listen to music 
and a great cross cultural event where the traditional 
people of the region welcome and share their culture 
and lives. For many visitors this is a once in a lifetime 
experience that leaves fond memories and builds great 
bridges.

Many Barunga locals participated directly for the 
three days offering up a unique view of their home 
and culture, played in many sporting teams and a 
number of musical and other performances. For many 
locals this was a great catch up time like all great 
corroborees.

For the last few years the festival has been coordinated 
by Skinny Fish Music but what a lot of the festival 

goers do not see is the hundreds of staff hours 
of background work,  preparation and clean-
up undertaken by Roper Gulf Regional Council 
municipal, sport and recreation and administration 
staff and many others. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council staff prepare the 
beautiful grassed areas and playing fields, do clean 
ups and prepare camping areas, assist with essential 
services and maintain Council community facilities 
used during the festival.  Roper Gulf Regional Council 
provides support, infrastructure plant and equipment 
and play a key role in running the sporting events.

This year the RJCP team was involved in construction 
of an extension of the main stage and a number of 
other construction jobs. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council is proud of its thirty 
years of partnership with this fine event. 

Barunga is the opening event of a series of local dry 
season festivals each of which is a unique introduction 
to life in the towns of the Roper Gulf region and an 
important part of the regions tourist industry.

Images courtesy Glenn Campbell  
(Skinny Fish Music)
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A brand new day for a new citizen at Ngukurr

With the early morning sun rising bringing promise of 
a hot October day to follow, Ampro Tuddaa Lavender 
became a new citizen of Australia at a ceremony held 
in Ngukurr at the end of October 2014.

Mrs. Lavender is the first person to undertake a 
citizenship ceremony in Ngukurr and the second 
person to undertake it with the Roper Gulf Regional 
Council. 

Ampro lives and works in Ngukurr, the iconic town 
on the banks of the Roper River and was thrilled to be 
able to take her oath in her home town.

Deputy Mayor Judy Macfarlane who conducted the 
ceremony said,

“We are expecting more people to apply for citizenship 
ceremonies to be held in our region and we are all 
excited about being able to welcome new Australians 
here in the Roper Gulf region”, 

“Citizenship is our common bond uniting Australians 
whether your heritage is first Australian, Australian 
born or more recent arrivals. 

Our rich heritage stems from the contributions made 
by all of us. We join in welcoming new citizens,” she 
said.

“Mirror Mirror on the screen” New Mirror on an Old Story

Wednesday night before Easter was a big night for 
Jilkminggan. The small town on the Roper River had 
an opening night and about seventy people, young and 
old came for the first performance of a play produced 
by the young members of the town.

The project was supported by a Foundation for 
Rural and Regional Renewal/ ABC Haywire Youth 
Innovation Grant.  

Written and performed by young local performers, 
most without performance experience, the play was 
based on alcohol’s impact on small communities and 
families. 

“The play is community to community, and across the 
generations, showing the effects of alcohol on their 
own mob…it was a great way to deliver a message,” 
said Holly Gosden, Roper Gulf Regional Council’s 
Jilkminggan Sport and Recreation Coordinator. 

Two Sydney based volunteers from Indigenous 
Volunteers, Nadi and Shai assisted with writing and 
drama development. Other residents helped with 
costume, make up and the construction of scenery 
construction, painting, and catering.

(Story continues over page)
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(Story continued from previous page)

Sixty young people have been involved in the project 
so far. Holly Gosden added,

“As well as fun, I think I have the shyest kids in the 
region… and preparations were quite intense. It was 
really hands on and the kids enjoyed voicing their 
opinions…and the hard work has gone on right up to 
the kids going on stage tonight.”

The performance was held on the town’s basketball 
court; an atmospheric location in the sticky heat 
of early April. The single spot light lit the brightly 
painted stage set, a geometric and primary coloured 
design and highlighted the stark face paint make up of 
the performers.

As the play was written from the players experience 
it had a raw feeling but was also funny. The audience 
quickly involved themselves in the story that generated 
a lot of discussion after. 

The personal development of shy young people and the 
opportunity for self expression is invaluable as was the 
experience of the community working together and 
seeing itself in a mirror held by their children.

The plan is to travel the show to neighbouring 
towns. Sets and stage have been designed to be easily 
transportable. 

NAIDOC Week celebrations at Roper Gulf

NAIDOC Week has become an important celebration 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Culture and 
life across the Roper Gulf region. This year all of the 
Roper Gulf towns held activities to celebrate and mark 
this important date in the Roper Gulf and National 
calendar. Activities including sport, traditional 
activities, music and dance and community events 
brought together all ages in celebration. 

The date also dovetailed in with School Holidays 
making it a big week for younger community 
members.

Like many of the towns Borroloola began the week 
with a march and procession and later with traditional 
dance and music. People from all the Borroloola 
camps participated and the day finished with a disco 
at the Council Offices. During the week AFL and 
Softball were played culminating in Grand finals 
held on the Sunday. Teams travelled from as far as 
Robinson River and Doomadgee in Queensland to 
play.

In Numbulwar the day was celebrated with a 
community BBQ and the showing of the movie “The 
Sapphires’ under the stars on the beach.  Sport again 
played an important part of the week and there was 

also an art competition where young people were able 
to draw their stories on canvas.

In Katherine a contingent of Roper Gulf Regional 
Council staff and a big group of RJCP participants 
from Beswick attended the big march there. After the 
march the RJCP mob entertained a large audience by 
performing traditional dance. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council is proud to support 
NAIDOC Week in the region’s Towns and 
Communities.
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Bulman’s Walaman Festival

Bulman’s annual Walaman Festival was held in 
July and was a great success. The festival showcased 
and involved several hundred people in a unique 
indigenous cultural experience. As well as involving 
people in a cultural experience the Festival bought 
together the communities of Bulman and Weemol. 

The community and Council staff worked together 
both in preparation for the festival and for our visitors 
and during the festival. Everyone had a great time 
as well. Leading up to the festival, the Sport and 
Recreation Hall was prepared beautifully through the 
hard work of David Gaston and the RGRC team. The 
countless hours and attention that was put in was 
greatly appreciated by all who attended the festival. 

Roper Gulf helped set up the event, the ladies gathered 
natural colours, Pandanas, seeds and bark for paintings 
whilst the men went on the hunt for spears, wood for 
didgeridoos and branches to construct traditional huts. 
The RGRC municipal team helped prepare the area for 
dances and constructing the Festival centre piece. 

Starting with NAIDOC week activities Friday night 
kick started the Walaman festival with a display of 
local traditional dances and food. On Saturday there 
were displays of local art, necklaces, baskets, t-shirts, 
damper making, construction, painting of didgeridoos 
and spears, whilst the kids decorated their own kites 
that they flew in the afternoon.

Amanda Haigh managed the RGRC stand which 
provided council information and give aways. 

Partnering with Ri-Con (the 
construction company building Bulman’s new store), 
RGRC also hosted a colouring in competition for the 
kids. Sunrise health had a stand promoting healthy 
lifestyle and I am sure everyone enjoyed some of the 
fresh fruit through out the day whilst being able to 
have a chat to some trained staff. As dusk fell on a 
busy day, the Walaman festival was lucky enough to 
have the Red Flag dances from Numbulwar perform 
well into the night.

Sunday was focused on the oval for tug-awar, spear 
throwing and finished off with the local rivalry of 
Bulman vs. Weemol AFL match won by Weemol . The 
festival attracted lots of visitors, an increased number 
from previous years. They all reported how much they 
enjoyed the festival. Many got up and tried their hand 
at didgeridoo making and traditional dancing. 

Thanks to the Walaman festival committee for a 
successfully run weekend. We are already looking 
forward to the next festival which will be even bigger 
and better.
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Australia Day 2015

From Numbulwar on the Gulf Coast to Mataranka 
in the heart of the Never  Never, from Borroloola in 
the middle of the Savannah to Barunga on the edge of 
Kakadu Australia Day was celebrated in most of the 
Roper Gulf Regional Council communities and towns.  
Rain or shine the show went on with lots of happy 
people joining in.

The Day was marked by presentations of awards to 
outstanding local citizens both young and old to 
recognise their achievements, flag raisings and singing 
that old favourite, the National Anthem.

As the formal part of day was over, there were BBQs, 
breakfasts, games and activities as diverse as AFL 
football, broom throwing and water games at the 
pool. People who were nominated for Citizen of the 
Year Awards and the winners of those awards were 
congratulated. Also special thanks to all those locals 
and council staff who worked together and made the 
day a real success. 
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Roper Gulf Regional Council acknowledges 
the support provided and the partnerships 
formed through funding from the following 
agencies and services in the 2014-15 financial 
year. Without this funding, and support, 
Roper Gulf Regional Council would be 
unable to sustain much of our important 
infrastructure, community services and special 
projects.

GRANT 
FUNDING
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Grant Funding 2014-2015

Details Government 
Level

 Tied  
Funding 

 Untied  
Funding 

 Total  
Grants 

Australia Day Council NT Other  $ 3,000  $ 3,000 

Community Services & Health Industry 
Skills Council

Other  $ 38,200  $ 38,200 

Department of Chief Minister NT  $ 35,200  $ 35,200 

Department of Correctional Services NT  $ 215,000  $ 215,000 

Department of Health NT  $ 92,043  $  92,043 

Department of Infrastructure & Regional 
Development 

AG  $ 273,335  $ 273,335 

Department of Industry & Science AG  $ 371,944  $ 371,944 

Department of Local Government & 
Community Services

AG + NT  $ 4,817,446  $ 5,366,319  $ 10,183,765 

Department of Business NT  $ 15,000  $ 15,000 

Department of Education NT  $ 250,000  $ 250,000 

Department of Transport NT  $ 450,000  $ 450,000 

Department of Prime Minister & 
Cabinet

AG  $ 8,322,174  $ 8,322,174 

Department of Sport & Recreation NT  $ 361,500  $ 361,500 

Department of Social Services AG  $ 2,002,784  $ 2,002,784 

Foundation of Rural & Regional 
Renewal

Other  $ 8,074  $ 8,074 

Katherine Regional Aboriginal Health & 
Related Services

Other  $ 6,550  $  6,550 

Minister for Arts & Museums NT  $ 163,553  $ 163,553 

McArthur River Mine Other  $ 25,000  $ 5,000 

 $ 17,450,803  $ 5,366,319  $ 22,817,122 

ROPER GULF REGIONAL COUNCIL  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014-201546



Roper Gulf Regional Council runs a Community 
Grants Program to support different projects within 
the Roper Gulf region. These grants are used to 
strengthen local culture, economy, family or the 
environment. Anyone from individual applicants 
to community groups are encouraged to apply 
for up to $1000 (Minor Grant) and incorporated 
organisations for up to $3,000 (Major Grant).

In 2014 /2015 Roper Gulf Regional Council 
Community Grants Program supported a variety of 
community events and sporting activities ranging 
from the Never Never Festival at Mataranka, 
transport for the Big River Hawks AFL team to 
travel to and from games in their successful season 
and entry costs for a remotes school’s  excursion  
to Sydney and travel support for a promising local 
Squash player to compete at the NT Titles.

COMMUNITY 
GRANTS 
PROGRAM
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2014-15 Round One Community Grants
Organisation Project Amount

Borroloola and Gulf Show Society Exhibitor fridge replacement $ 3000

Mataranka School Mataranka school beautification project $ 2000

Wugularr (Beswick) School Garden project $ 2000

Dingilina Homeland Getting young men and women out on Country to learn 
bush skills from my fathers and grandfathers

$ 3000

Yugul Mangi Development Aboriginal 
Corporation Darlala Motel

Bush Medicine & Bush Garden Project Ngukurr $ 3000

Numbulwar School Numburindi Arts Shipping Container $ 3000

Jilkminggan School School excursion $ 2000

Mataranka School’s newest additions

Lunch time has become safer and more comfortable 
for the little ones at Mataranka School which now has 
three strong, safe, age appropriate tables and bench 
seats for the preschool/transition and younger pupils 
to be able to comfortably eat their lunches at. No more 
dangling legs or splinters, no more sitting on the hot 
ground.  The photo shows they are obviously a winner 
with the kids.

The tables and bench seating were purchased through 
a $3000 Community Grant from the Roper Gulf 
Regional Council.
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2014-15 Round Two Community Grants

Organisation Project Amount

Michael Lewis Costs associated with Michael Lewis attending the 2014 
Australian Junior Squash Championships in Perth

$ 500

Nicole Lorimer Kiana Station After School Sport Initiative, purchase of 
tennis equipment

$ 1000

Ngukurr Kangaroos Football Club The purchase of New Jerseys, & sell & buy t-shirts, hats 
and water bottles with our logo

$ 3000

NT Writers Centre – The estate of the late John 
Andrew McMillan

Renovation and rejuvenation of Lot 58 Larrimah NT 
– for plumbing the building upstairs and the laundry 
downstairs

$ 3000

AFL NT Big River Hawks Football Club Travel to and from Darwin; costs including fuel, food 
and drinks for the players

$ 3000

Spur & Anvil Trading Co Pty Ltd Spur and Anvil Kids Training Project – require 
equipment for safe and well managed training ground 
for local community children to develop horsemanship 
and cattleman skills

$ 3000

Roper Gulf  Regional Council also supported a group of 
students from the Jilkmiggan School by paying for the cost 
of venue entry as part of the schools trip to Sydney. The 
opportunity for students from a very remote school  to visit 
a Australia’s largest city and visit the Tooronga Park Zoo 
, the Aquarium and other educational sites provided an 

experience for the students which widened their world view 
and helped develop confidence and communication skills.

Council also supported one of our rising starts in Squash 
to attend the NT Squash Championship. Living in a very 
remote area would  have restricted his ability to compete 
without the support of the a Community Grant.

2014-15 Round Three Community Grants
Organisation Project Amount

Katherine Indigenous Cricket Team  Regional Indigenous Cricket Tour – for five RGRC Community 
Members to travel to Thailand for competitive cricket

 $ 3000

 Mataranka Local Authority  Mataranka ANZAC Day Celebrations – provide a community 
breakfast and lunch and support the ‘Rusty Bugles’ play

 $ 3000

 Barunga School  To purchase an electronic drum kit for the Barunga High School’s 
music production team

 $ 2672.85

 Mataranka School Council  Mataranka’s ‘Back to the Never Never Festival’ – assisting with 
arts and music costs

 $ 3000

 Borroloola Amatuer Race Club Fencing of disco and tank/bore area  $ 3000
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ANZAC Day celebrations in Mataranka

As the sun sank behind the horizon on Anzac Day, 
Mataranka seemed to be swept into a time tunnel that 
took it back seventy years. Well perhaps a small part of 
it … if you squinted a bit …

On the set of “Rusty Bugles”, a play first done 
in Mataranka 20 years ago, the setting sun and 
lengthening shadows made the suspending of reality 
easy for the audience of about 150. Sustained with 
thick and tasty beef stew and damper they settled back 
into a recreation of Mataranka deep in the Second 
World War and followed the lives of a disparate group 
of soldiers stuck in the drudgery of a forgotten supply 
depot. 

The play written by the almost forgotten Australian 
playwright Sommer Locke Elliott, is based on his 
experiences of serving in Mataranka toward the end of 
world war II.

It was a radical and controversial play when it was 
first produced and banned in the 1950’s because of 
its explicit use of language. It seems almost arcane to 
contemporary ears especially when the Mataranka crew 
used their own form of censorship. I have not heard 
the phrase “get ripped” since my own childhood in late 
1950’s.

Apart from its setting it was one of the first plays 
written specifically for an Australian audience about 
a topic that resonated for many people in the 1950’s. 
It is not a play in the classical sense.  Characters 
are ordinary and non-heroic, in many ways it is a 
documentary about the ordinary and mundane. 

There are no clear lead characters. People come 
and go but the grinding routine of the camp continues 
only broken by the ringing of the watch bell.

The play demonstrated that the war was mostly 
boredom broken with sudden rare terror and implicitly 
that ordinary daily life in the 1950’s was little better. 

Only cynicism, dreaming of an escape “south” and the 
search for lurks broke the monotony of boredom.  The 
soldiers were against authority; angered by the morass 
of the bureaucracy that was smothering them and that 
they could do little to change their situation. 

The tragedy is very domestic. The play pointed 
to a style of writing that become a strong part of 
contemporary theatre and film TV in the following 
30 years. Like TV’s MASH 20 years later, it addressed 
some of the same issues, though not as heroically 
perhaps.

 The recent production in Mataranka performed by 
non-actors reflected a strong community commitment 
and energy. With better technical preparation and 
tighter direction, the production could easily hold 
its own, not that I think it mattered to the audience 
who bought into the performance and enjoyed the 
experience.
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When the cast let loose, the real humor and pathos 
showed through.  Rusty Bugles is a long play but this 
performance held its audience. 

The real joy in this production was seeing a diverse 
community working together to pull off a piece 
of theatre and in turn build relationships in that 
community and the production design was excellent. 
The use of a row of open tents facing directly on to the 

audience set in the open of the sports ground worked 
especially when you looked up into a dark starry Never 
Never night.

Roper Gulf Regional Council partially funded the 
production of Rusty Bugles through a Community 
Grant of $3000 and helped auspice ANZAC 
Centenary funding.

 

The Drums are beating in Barunga

It’s a Hollywood cliché that beating drums are a 
warning of impending unrest but in Barunga today 
they are signaling a rising new musical talent amongst 
Barunga’s school age youth.

The drums are just one part of “Barunga Beats”, a 
skills workshop focusing on electronic music being 
lead by Barunga School Music Tutor Ben Andrews, in 
the build up to June’s Barunga Festival.  

Ben, who in another life was a successful record 
producer with his own label, is supporting a talented 
group of boys and girls in developing original 
electronic keyboards synthesizer and drums music.

The plan is to run the disco on the Friday night of the 
Barunga Festival and to do some shows as well.   Who 
knows what talent might bloom.

 Ben says that he is,

‘… focused on the sustainability of the program so 
that it has a lasting benefit. Last year the kids did the 
disco at the Festival…it was a great event and built a 
lot of confidence.’

‘This has been such a positive program and the kids 
have seized on the opportunity to develop their own 
sound and music’, he said.

Ben who has lived locally with his family for seven 
years is employed by the Barunga School. The 
“Barunga beats” has recently also had the luck to have 
James Mungohig from the well known Darwin band 
“Sietta” working with the kids.

Roper Gulf Regional Council has supported the Music 
program at the school through a Community Grant of 
$2700 which enabled them to purchase a good quality 
electronic drum kit, the source of the… drumming… 
drumming...drumming.!
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The Roper Gulf Regional Council Annual Report for 
2014-15 reports on the four strategic goals that were 
set by Roper Gulf Regional Council Strategic Plan 
2013-16 and highlighted in Roper Gulf Regional 
Council’s 2014-15 Regional Plan.

Each of the four goals relates directly to one of 
four Roper Gulf Regional Council Directorates as 
explained in our Organisational Structure.

REPORT ON
COUNCIL GOALS



REPORT ON
COUNCIL GOALS

SECTION 3



Goal One
Strong leadership through good governance, strong financial 
management, corporate planning and operational support

Continuous process improvement strengthens Council’s bottom line. 
Process improvements in Accounts Receivable, IT 
telecommunications, Work Health and Safety and the 
establishment of a new infrastructure fund have produced 
really good outcomes for Roper Gulf Regional Council. 

Better processes and auditing in telecommunications and 
IT have resulted in a cost saving of $100,000 over the year.

Accounts Receivable is at the lowest level ever. This reflects 
hard work by Finance staff in producing this great result.

Reduction of workplace incidents and better reporting 
have both made Roper Gulf a safer place to work for 
all staff and will lead to lower workers compensation 
insurance premiums.

Another important change that has occurred in the 
financial year 2014/15 was the establishment of the 

Audit Committee to guide Council’s audit processes 
and standards. This committee of Council also has two 
independent members to provide industry expertise.

The year also saw the establishment of an infrastructure 
fund which directs depreciation costs from assets into 
Council reserves for future developments and asset 
replacement.

Roper Gulf Regional Council was also able to source 
$500,000 funding through a Special Purpose Grant from 
NTG DLGCS to purchase land and start construction 
of a new Technical Services Workshop in Katherine. This 
important new infrastructure will give council a valuable 
new asset and reduce rental outgoings.  

Strategic Programs for 2014-15
• Working Together in Communities Program incorporating the Building Strength 

in Communities Project, Bridging the Gap between Governance and Community 
Project and Youth Leadership in Communities Conference.

• Budget Building for the Long Term
• Radical Retention Rates Program incorporating the HR and Recruitment Projects

Greg Arnott, Director of Corporate Governance
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Roper Gulf Graduates

Seven Roper Gulf Regional Council Staff graduated 
at the Charles Darwin University Graduation 
ceremony held in Katherine on the 13 November. Staff 
graduated in certificate studies in Business, Training 

and Assessment and Community Services which were 
undertaken with the sponsorship by the Council. Well 
done to Kaffie, Jyoti, Hilary, Jo, Jenny, Stephen and 
Mary on your new qualifications.

Human Resources
Human Resource is responsible for providing support in the various human resource functions such as recruitment, staffing, 
training and development, performance monitoring, employee mentoring and payroll support. 

Human Resources Key Performance Indicators

Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline Number of staff at the end of the year 553
Number of Indigenous staff at the end of the year 269
Number of staff leaving in the year 202
Number of new staff for the year 122
Number of community positions filled by local people: 88
• Binjari 2
• Barunga 11
• Borroloola 4
• Bulman 9
• Jilkminggan 5
• Manyallaluk 5
• Mataranka 5
• Minyerri 2
• Ngukurr 2
• Numbulwar 15
• Wugularr 10
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Financial Management 
Finance’s Key Performance Indicators

Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline

Total Council expenditure  $ 39,297,022

Amount of depreciation  $ 3,636,140

Amount of rates outstanding  $ 375,352

Total rates for the year  $ 1,201,526

Amount of outstanding payments to creditors over 30 days  $ 882,181

Amount of outstanding payments over 30 days  $ 405,927

Total surplus or deficit for the period  $ -947,996 

Cash balance at the end of the period  $ 13,229,260

Amount of Current assets  $ 15,440,216

Amount of Current liabilities  $ 5,629,437

Effectiveness Actual and percentage of rates recovery  75%

Greater oversight through new Audit Committee

Roper Gulf Regional Council’s new Audit 
Committee met for the first time in mid January 
to establish Terms of Reference. The new audit 
committee has been separated from the larger 
Finance Committee of Council and will provide 
Council advice on improved auditing processes and 
accountability.

An important strength of the new Committee is 
its enhanced independence provided through the 
inclusion of two independent members one of whom 
will chair the committee.

Mark Griffieon, a former CEO of the West Arnhem 
Regional Council and currently Group Leader 
Financial Management for the Coffs Harbour 
City Council and Phil Vivian who comes with an 
extensive background in Corporate and Public 

Sector Management and Directorships, have joined 
as independent members. Councillors Don Garner, 
Anne-Marie Lee and Selina Ashley also sit on the 
Committee.

The Audit Committee meets a minimum of twice 
a year and will report to Council. Mayor Tony Jack 
welcomed the new Audit Committee saying,

 “A keystone of quality and effective financial 
governance is a strong and independent audit process 
and we welcome our new independent members 
and the new Audit Committee. The review of the 
Local Government Act in July last year gave us this 
opportunity to improve our already strong auditing 
process and accountability. I look forward to 
receiving reports from the new Audit Committee”. 
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Governance, Corporate Planning and Compliance 
Roper Gulf Regional Council’s Governance unit is responsible for supporting the Mayor and Councillors, the operations 
of Council meetings, Council Committees and Local Authorities. The Governance Unit also prepares publications, 
provides media response and advice to Council and maintains the Roper Gulf Regional Council website, social media 
pages and Newsletters.

The Roper Gulf Council’s Complaints management process is also managed through the Governance unit.

Key Performance Indicators

MEASURE PERFORMANCE MEASURE AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Baseline

Number of Ordinary Meeting of Council 7

Number of Local Authority Meetings scheduled 60

Number of Local Authority Meetings held 45

Number of media releases produced  26

Number of Newsletter produced  12

Effectiveness Percentage attendance rates for Elected Members at 
Council Meetings

 80%

Efficiency Indicator Improved attendance rates from Council Members at 
Ordinary Meetings of Council

By 3% from last year.

Local Authorities Training and workshops 

The ten Local Authorities within Roper Gulf Regional 
Council area play a vital role in directly involving 
residents in the decision making processes of Council 
on issues that impacts their community. Each Local 
Authority has members who live in that community 
who are nominated by the community and Council 
and get paid to attend the six scheduled Local 
Authority meetings.

Roper Gulf Regional Council has a strong 
commitment to Local Authorities which replaced 
Local Boards and have been in place at Roper Gulf 
Regional Council area for one and half years.

2014/15 has been a busy year for Roper Gulf 
Regional Council’s Local Authorities. In response to 
Local Authority members request, Council provided 
Training and Professional Development opportunities 
to support Local Authority Members in their roles. 
Two lots of Training were delivered by LGANT 
Trainers Ginny Rabeling and Angela Pattison in April 
and June. The training was delivered in each of the ten 
communities.

The April training covered Local Authority Members 
Roles and Responsibilities and what is expected from 
Members. The training in June covered Financial 
aspects and provided training on how to read and 
understand Council’s Financial Reports. Local 
Authorities are required to overview Financial Reports 
for their Local Authority area quarterly. 

The Training went very well, and was received 
positively by those attending. The training was 
attended by 50% of Local Authority members. 
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In November training on Minute Taking and how 
to chair a meeting was also delivered in conjunction 
with Victoria Daly Regional Council. The training was 
attended by staff and Local Authority Members.  

July bought a unique opportunity to engage with 
Annalise Jennings from “Dynamic Exchange” 
who delivered the” Whole of Community Change 
Program”  to Roper Gulf Regional Councillors, Local 
Authority Members and Roper Gulf Council Staff. 

The Dynamic Exchange mission is to support 
individuals, teams and communities to reach 
their fullest potential through discovering healthy 
working relationships and celebrating success 
and empowerment and human potential. They 
are passionate advocates of ethical, corporate and 
individual behaviour in communities and in business. 
“Doing things with people. Not to them.”

The “Inspiring leadership Forum” gave our delegates 
a taste of how people coming together to share their 
skills and knowledge can create real change. This was a 
fantastic day spent exploring new ways of approaching 
issues by focussing on strengths. 

In June we partnered with Victoria Daly Regional 
Council to hold an Indigenous Women’s Conference, 
“Ordinary Women/ Extra Ordinary Lives’. This was 
another Professional Development opportunity that 
was taken up by nineteen women from Roper Gulf 
Regional Council including nine Local Authority 
Members and ten staff from remote communities.  

Held at the beautiful Godinymayin Arts Centre in 
Katherine, the conference had a regional focus with 
emphasis on Katherine’s regions that incorporated 
both Victoria Daly and Roper Gulf Councils areas. 
The participants of workshop had an inspiring day 
listening to inspiring speakers living truly extra 
ordinary lives.

Information Technology 
Steadily swinging Roper Gulf into the IT mainstream

The Roper Gulf Regional Council IT Unit has been 
continuing work started last year in auditing and 
rationalising telecommunication and IT processes. 
Roper Gulf Regional Council was spending $15000 
to $20000 a month on telecommunications products 
and services and this has now been reduced by around 
25%. This has been achieved by removing duplication 

and unused services and through 
better product plans.

Working with our main providers 
has also provided improved 
existing and some new services 
such as a new fleet management 
and location package which will 
be introduced in the New Year. 
This new service will be provided 
by Telstra who have also 
improved network connection 
points which give faster and 
more reliable services particularly 
in remote service centres.

Roper Gulf Regional Council, as part of the 
consortium of Local Governments behind Council 
biz has also upgraded hardware which has provided 
a faster service with fewer problems. We have begun 
testing a number of new desktop configurations before 
they are more widely rolled out across the organisation 
as part of general upgrading of hardware.

An exciting new product is the provision of video 
conferencing facilities in some of our more distance 
service centres which will be particularly valuable 
during the wet season. 

Servicing widely dispersed communities across an 
area twice the size of Tasmania gives some unique 
challenges to Roper Gulfs IT Unit. A steady 
improvement in speed and reliability and new 
solutions to old problems are leading to better 
communications across the organisation.
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Work Health and Safety 

The interest in providing a safe workplace for 
all workers is increasing across the Roper Gulf 
region. Hazard reporting is strengthening. 
On average we received 26.8 hazard reports 
per month from our workers.  This is an 
incredible 288% increase from the previous 
years reporting. There has however been a 64 
% increase the number of injuries recorded 
this financial year. This is largely due to our 
improved reporting culture. In previous years 
these figures were not recorded. 

These figures indicate that the WHS journey 
for RGRC has begun on a solid foot, leaving 
RGRC in a good position to keep improving 
in future years, striving for a safer workplace 
for all RGRC workers. Reducing these injury, 
incident, faulty equipment and property 
damage rates will be the main focus for the 
upcoming 2015/2016 Financial Year. 

Safe September at Roper Gulf

Safe behaviors should be an everyday part of our 
workplaces but to add an extra focus, September was 
declared as Safe September month at Roper Gulf 
Regional Council.  The theme of SAFER (See it, 
Act on it, Find a safer way, Everyday, at Roper) is 
permeating the organisation.

Setting focus on having safe workplaces September 
saw community visits from the CEO Michael Berto 
and Directors to update employees on RGRCs 
safety performance and vision. Roper Gulf Regional 

Council has been committed to providing a safe 
workplace and everyone has a role to play.  The use of 
a graphic documentary film really bought home the 
message about preventing injuries at work.

Those with computer access also saw the new safety 
messages which come up as a screen saver as well as 
new weekly safety alerts.  Posters showing employees 
from Ngukurr demonstrating our safety standards 
have been distributed across the Council.

Prepare to Get There - Vehicle Safety Day

The whole of RGRC set aside the morning of 27 
April 2015 to participate in a vehicle safety program. 
The aim of The Vehicle Safety Day was to increase 
awareness of vehicle and driver safety. The program 

included a vehicle prestart demonstration, drive 
awareness videos and talks on driver behaviours 
which included driving under the influence of drugs, 
speeding, fatigue and wearing seatbelts.
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Goal Two
To protect and care for the physical environment

Strategic Programs for 2014-15
• Cleaner Greener Challenge Program

• Crime Prevention through Environmental Design Program incorporating Dark Spot 
Reduction Project and Solar Lights Project

• Managing the Things beneath your Feet Program incorporating the Right Path 
Project and Road Maintenance Project

• Office Upgrade Project  incorporating the Community Energy Efficient Program, 
Centrelink Upgrades and Select Community Offices

• Commence the development of proposals for a new administrative centre

• Upgrade VOQ at Ngukurr

Sharon Hillen, Director of Council Services and Infrastructure

2014/15 marked the beginning of a new era in Council 
Services and Infrastructure. The directorate handed 
over all contract related activities to the Contracts 
and Technical Services Directorate. This allowed 
Council Services and Infrastructure Directorate to 
focus on improving Council core services and project 
management. The goal of protecting and caring for the 
built and natural environment has become key to the 
progress in service delivery improvement.

A strong budget review process also bought about change 
through rationalising services and getting back to basics. 
The Landcare and Animal Management program has 
been reduced to Animal Management with natural 
resource management being transferred to the municipal 
teams in each location.

Council Service Managers and their office staff have 
picked up the pace supporting community engagement, 

including managing Local Authority meetings; hosting 
civic events like Australia Day and Anzac Day as well as  
customer service and general office management. 

Two Council offices, Beswick and Bulman received major 
upgrades whilst the other offices and two town pools 
received electrical and air-conditioning upgrades, roof 
seal and insulation as part of the Community Energy 
Efficiency Program. These upgrades have seen a 50% 
reduction in power usage by Council offices.

Municipal teams are the heart and soul of Council. These 
teams work tirelessly dealing with the tasks relating to 
public amenity. The Mun’s teams take daily ownership of 
on-site operations including – 

• Asset and property management
• Waste management
• Cemeteries
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• Traffic management
• Local roads maintenance
• Local emergency management planning and recovery
• Swimming pools and parks and gardens;and 
• Land management in town localities.
Council has been very successful this year in obtaining co-
funding for many infrastructure projects across the region. 
However this can be the real challenge.

Sharon Hillen, Director of Council Services and 
Infrastructure says:

“Getting the money is often easier than getting the project 
completed.”

To meet the high level of success in grant funding 
Roper Gulf Regional Council has improved its project 
management resources and reporting frameworks to 
ensure that infrastructure projects meet planning and 
industry standards and meet the expectations of residents, 
Local Authorities, Council and staff.

Animal Management is in its 2nd year of a 3 year term, 
improving the health, education and awareness of 

residents and their companion animals. This is a strong 
and positive story.

Roads maintenance and other contract services are 
now carried out by the Directorate of Contracts and 
Technical Services. Council Services works closely with 
this directorate to determine the priorities and processes 
of expending Councils capital funds associated with roads, 
buildings and facilities. 

Highlights for the year include:

• Development of drainage and sealing works at 
Manyallaluk.  

• Beswick Office Upgrade
• Borroloola basketball court repairs
• All office signage updated with uniform signage
• Solar light roll-out for the ‘Light up the dark in our 

Parks’ project continued in Borroloola, Bulman, 
Weemol, Jilkminggan, Ngukurr and Numbulwar

• Upgrade of visiting contractors quarters at Ngukurr.
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Infrastructure and Council Services Key Performance Indicators

Measure Performance Measure As at 30 JUNE

Baseline

Total area of park gardens and open spaces (hectares) 90 Hectares

Amount of energy costs $310,247.00

Amount of water usage $ 152,392

The number of actual weekly rubbish pickups Average of 26 collections weekly

The number of kilometres of road requiring 
maintenance for the current year

923.68km

Consisting of:

• Sealed – 78.49km
• Gravel – 241.21km
• Formed – 143.12km
• Flat bladed track – 460.86km

The number of kilometres of road actually 
maintained in the year x location x category

121.45km

Consisting of: 

• Sealed - 39.245km
• Gravel – 82km

Effectiveness

Ratio/percentage of roads maintained to the total 
kilometres of road under the control of RGRC

121.45/923.68 or 13.15%

Ratio/Percentage of actual rubbish pickups to the 
approved service level

98%

Ratio/percentage over or under spend actual to 
budget

1.78% over

Efficiency Indicator
Percentage reduction in energy consumption 12.5%

Percentage reduction in water consumption 12%
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Community Energy Efficiency Program Completes 

A half million-dollar Community Energy Efficiency 
Program has been completed in the Roper Gulf 
region. This program has upgraded and massively 
improved the energy efficiency of Roper Gulf 
Regional Council’s Business Offices that serve the 
nine towns of the region. Comparative figures of 
electricity usage shows nearly 50% reduction in 
power usage in Councils Service offices since the 
program began last year. 

“We can already see significant changes in the 
environment of these offices, they are better places to 
work in and have reduced energy usage and therefore 
power costs”, said Roper Gulf Regional Council 
Mayor Tony Jack. 

“Simple actions like retrofitting energy efficient air 
conditioning, replacing door and window seals, 
improving insulation  and painting roofs with 
reflective paint has balanced the internal temperature 
which means we do not need to use as much energy 
to maintain  a good working temperature” Mayor 
Jack explained. 

 “This in turn gives us a real saving in our power bills, 
money we can redirect to other community projects”. 

 The consistently high temperature experienced in the 
top end makes air-conditioning a necessary part of 
life. Improving building energy efficiency has reduced 
the loss of cool air and the amount of radiant heat 
that penetrates the buildings. We do not need to 
continuously run air conditioning to maintain a 
comfortable temperature. 

Many of the old air-conditioners were ineffective 
relics of a time when there was not the current 
awareness of energy costs.  

Energy efficient air conditioning units have been 
fitted in all buildings. Passive energy saving methods 
like fitting door closers and sealing windows to 
reduce drafts means that insulation is more effective. 
Sealing air leaks in roofs and painting to reflect 
radiant heat also greatly improves the insulation.  

Low wattage LED lighting, replacing fluorescent 
lights, have also been fitted in all buildings with an 

estimated saving of about $300 at each service centre. 
Fitting new pumps at the Borroloola and Ngukurr 
swimming pools have also significantly reduced the 
power costs. 

Director Council Services and Infrastructure Sharon 
Hillen is enthusiastic about the program outcomes. 

The savings are real and measurable and in line with 
Council’s Green Plan for 2013-2016 which aimed 
for 10% reduction in power and water over the three 
years. We will easily exceed this.

The real secret weapon in our energy saving  has been 
the fitting of timer switches which means that lights 
and air conditioning are not left on unnecessarily. We 
are also encouraging staff to take responsibility for 
their energy efficiency which they now monitor” 

Roper Gulf Regional Council Service Offices are now 
bright and comfortable places to visit and work in 
and are helping make Council’s dollar to go further 
in a time of rising energy costs. 

This activity received funding from the Australian 
Government. 

The views expressed herein are not necessarily the 
views of the Commonwealth of Australia and the 
Commonwealth does not accept responsibility for any 
information or advice contained herein.

SECTION 3  |  REPORT ON COUNCIL GOALS 63



Right Path Project Ngukurr

The concrete has been poured at Ngukurr for part of 
new footpaths that will eventually link the school and 

shop zones. These new 
footpaths are separate 
from the main feeder 
road through town and 
will make daily travel 
much safer for the largely 
pedestrian population of 
Ngukurr. 

Newly planted food 
and medicine trees and 

bushes along the new footpaths will also enhance travel 
along them.

The new footpaths are being constructed as a joint 
project between the Ngukurr Municipal crew, RJCP 
trainees, Outstations and Correctional services.

This is indeed another good step in improving the safe 
pedestrian movement and better life style for Ngukurr. 
The safer pathways project is part of a bigger project to 
better manage traffic around the town and make it safer 
for people to move around Ngukurr. 

Animal Handling Training for CSMs

At the June CSM forum, CSMs and the Mataranka 
Municipal staff got up close and personal with 
NT Vet Services star model ‘Bill’ the dog to get 
experience in dog and cat handling and behaviour. 

Participants learned about:
• Animal behaviour 
• Animal body language and dog introductions
• Muzzling a dog
• Catch pole pros and cons
• Euthanasia
• Cheeky dogs and dog bites
• Diseases carried by cats and dogs

Thanks to Dr Sam McMahon for increasing the 
confidence of Managers in their increased role in 
Animal Control and regulatory services.  

 Animal Management 2014/2015

RGRC is in the second year of a contract with the 
NT Veterinary Services (NTVS) in providing two 
veterinary visits per year to each of the communities 
serviced. Veterinary visits were conducted in Barunga, 
Beswick, Borroloola, Bulman, Jilkminggan, Jodetluk, 
Manyallaluk, Mataranka, Mulggan, Ngukurr, 
Numbulwar, Urapunga, Weemol and Werenbun.  Over 
the past 12 months, we have treated 2300 dogs, 190 cats, 
the occasional pig, rabbit, buffalo and wallaby.

The success of the program can be seen in the results 
for communities with reductions in parasite burdens, 
increased de-sexing programs and the general health of 
domestic animals. 

On average, over the past 12 months, there were 17.8 
dogs treated per 10 households (blue line), which 
equated to an estimated average population of 21.87 
dogs per 10 households (yellow line). The Roper 
Gulf Regional Council average is below the Northern 
Territory average of 25.59 dogs per 10 households.

Compliance is one of the major issues affecting the 
success of programs in remote communities. In general, 
the compliance level of the communities of the Roper 
Gulf Regional Council was very good,  and we should 
see improvements in communities. Issues effecting 
compliance are owners being absent, some  households 
having very high numbers of dogs and the owners being 
unable to catch all of their dogs. 

The average treatment compliance rate of the Roper 
Gulf Regional Council communities compared to the 
rest of the Northern Territory was slightly higher, and 
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has improved compared to 12 months earlier. This is 
relatively good with the majority of the communities 
having a level 4 or higher. To improve successful 
outcomes in animal health and control programs, 
owners need to lock their animals in yards or within 
their households. 

The level of dog Breeding Control within a 
community is also  important.  For a dog population 
to be properly controlled, the proportion of females 
under some form of breeding control (desexing or 
contraception) needs to be 90% or higher.  In the 
Roper Gulf Region, the majority of the communities 
had a level of breeding control greater than 90%. 
Over the past 12 months, 158 dogs and 26 cats were 
desexed. This means that communities should have 

a population decline as long as no new animals are 
brought in from outside. 

The number of pups born in the Roper Gulf Regional 
Council communities averaged at 1.2 pups born per 
10 adult dogs in the past 12 months. This is lower 
than the NT average of 1.9. This current excellent 
rate is due to the general acceptance of animal 
desexing and birth control. 

The average body condition of animals in 
communities is slightly under three out of five. Three 
is the ideal, which indicates that community animals 
are generally in good health. 

RGRC staff have also conducted hydro-bathing 
services and pre veterinary visits to each community.
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Putting the Wag in the dog

If you take your dog for a walk and there is any water 
around, a river, a puddle or a stagnant pool, most 
likely your dog will romp in the water, but say the 
word “bath” and most dogs either bolt or slink away.

What is it with warm soapy water, a gentle massage 
and the almost immediate relieving of the itch of fleas 
and ticks that turn many dogs in to sooks?

Roper Gulf Regional Council’s Animal Welfare Team 
were pondering this as they provided a hydro bath 
service across a number of communities within the 
Roper Gulf region.

A Hydro bath is a mobile bathtub that uses a 
specially designed recirculation pump that produces 
a high volume mix of water and shampoo delivered 
powerfully enough to penetrate the thickest coats, yet 
gently enough to massage the skin. Using the right 
shampoo helps cure and prevent skin infections and 
kill Fleas and Ticks.

“This year we washed up to 30 dogs a day and most 
dogs twice a year. This is over 500 dogs and cats 
washed using tick and flea shampoo” said Roper Gulf 
Animal Welfare Officer Brenda Donges. 

The hydro bathing greatly reduces the parasite burden 
on these dogs and helps develop a type of pack health, 
reducing the general parasite load across all our dogs.

“I go into communities 
and basically door knock 
all the houses and offer the 
service. Most people are 
really pleased to take it up 
but it’s a bit harder when I 
go to get the dogs to wash 
them as quite few just seem 
to slink off when they see me 
coming.

Despite the pleasantly warm 
water and removal of the 
ticks and fleas dogs generally 
don’t seem to enjoy it and all 
dogs immediately bound off 
to roll in the dirt as soon as 

we finish… but we have done the good stuff by then 
and they come out of it not only smelling good, but 
also feeling better.

Generally the dogs are not aggressive but we take 
precautions with cheeky dogs. They all get a go,” 
Brenda added.

“We get the owners to help and this gives me a chance 
to talk with them about animal health issues and the 
general well being of their animals. 

A reduced parasite load across a community benefits 
both animal and people’s health and well being. We 
are regularly breaking the breeding cycle of parasites.

We widely treat cattle herds for ticks and other 
parasites and need to do the same for our companion 
animals.” 

The hydro bathing program is linked to twice yearly 

Vet visits to the communities, usually half way 
between visits. This is steadily improving the overall 
animal health in our communities.

The Vets estimate the dog population across Roper 
Gulf Region is now about 3400 which is a steady 
decrease in numbers of dogs and puppies due to 
de-sexing. This is better than the NT and Australian 
average. The overall health of the dog population is 
also improving noticeably. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council has also put in place 
an animal complaints register that is being utilised 
successfully. All complaints are recorded, investigated 
and actioned either by the Council Services Manager 
in the relevant community or the Animal Welfare 
Manager.

Brenda recognises that some people may question the 
program but added,

“Our dogs are important family members and their 
health is a reflection of our own health and well being. 
Animal welfare is closely linked to public health.

The hydro bathing program is another part of 
improving the well being of dogs and their owners 
across Roper Gulf region”. 
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Project Management – Status of Works
Towns Projects Description Status

Barunga

Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre

Lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Facility Development Sports & Recreation Plan 2015-2025 Commenced consultation 
with Draft Plan expected 
by end of 2015

Right Path Project Tool Kit for footpath Tools procured

Beswick

Community Development 
Fund (CDF)

Lot 5 amenities upgrade Complete

CDF Duplex upgrade lot 120 Commenced
Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre and Pool

 Lighting, air-conditioning, doors 
& windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Wugularr Crèche Upgrade Infrastructure capital works to the 
Wugularr Crèche

Completed

Clean Energy Future Action 
Plan-energy audit

Audit; install appliances; evaluate; 
split air cons in SDC on timers

Completed

Special Purpose Grant Solar Street Lighting x 6 Completed
Right Path Project Tool Kit for footpath Tools procured

Borroloola

Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre and Pool

 Lighting, air-conditioning, doors 
and windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application + Pool pump

Completed

MRM CBT Borroloola Pool Facility operations 
contribution

Complete

Closing the Gap Borroloola Staff House 
Refurbishment  Lot 382

Completed

Local Authority Traffic 
Management 

Pedestrian and footpath in CBD Completed - draft report 

Bulman

Special Purpose Grant Solar Street Lighting x 6 Completed
Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre

Lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Community Development 
Fund (CDF)

Building trades training project, Lot 
30 - community media building

Commenced

Road to Recovery (R2R)- 
Weemol

3Km of roll, water and grade Completed

Special Purpose Grant - 
Weemol

1x Solar lights at main pump station Completed
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Jilkminggan

Special Purpose Grant Solar Street Lighting x 3 Completed
Right Path Project Tool Kit for footpath Tools procured
Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre

Lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Manyallaluk

Special Purpose Grant Solar Street Lighting x 3 Completed
Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre

Lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Facility Development Basketball fencing Completed

Mataranka

Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre

Lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Cash For Containers Development infrastructure for CDS 
collection depot and handling of 
other recyclable waste streams at new 
Regional Recycling Centre

Completed

Numbulwar

Clean Energy Future Action 
Plan-energy audit

audit; install appliances; evaluate Completed

Closing the Gap Retransmission Site at Numbulwar 
electrical + building works

Completed

Special Purpose Grant Solar lights x 5 Completed
Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre

 lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application

Completed

Right Path Project Tool Kit for footpath Tools procured

Ngukurr

Clean Energy Future Action 
Plan-energy audit

audit; install appliances; evaluate Completed

Special Purpose Grant Ngukurr Swimming Pool repairs completed
Special Purpose Grant Contractor Quarters building B 

upgrade
completed

Special Purpose Grant Solar lights x 6 completed
Facility Development Sports & Recreation Plan 2015-2025 Completed
Community Energy Efficiency 
Program - Service Delivery 
Centre and Pool

lighting, air-conditioning, doors & 
windows, roof restoration & heat 
reflector application + Pool pump

Completed

Right Path Project Tool Kit for footpath Tools procured
Facility & Capital Equipment 
Upgrade 

Ngukurr Sport & Recreation Hall 
Upgrade

completed

Special Purpose Grant Solar Street Lighting x 6 Completed

All Ten Local 
Authorities

Closing the Gap Governance Local Authority Training Completed
SPG Cemetery management plan Completed
Facility Development Sports & Recreation Plan 2015-2025 Completed
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Goal Three
Safe, strong and vibrant communities

Strategic Programs for 2014-15
• Remote Jobs and Communities Program

• Promote Community Safety and Harmony

• Youth Leadership in Communities Program incorporating Youth Diversion projects 
and Sport and Recreation Activities

• Caring for Community Program Incorporating Aged Care, Crèche services, school 
nutrition program, Centrelink, Indigenous Broadcasting and Libraries

• Remote School Attendance Strategy  

Catherine Proctor, Director of Community Services

An important factor this year has been in the number of 
partnerships and joint programs undertaken within the 
Community Services directorate with outside agencies 
and community organisations. These have benefited the 
community and individual participants and provided 
an economy of scale to achieve positive outcomes in a 
manageable time frame.

Remotes Jobs in Community Program is settling in. 
This big program has had some very positive outcomes 
including some great projects that have both benefited 
the community and the participants who have developed 
some very valuable work skills. A fine example of this was 
the work by the Barunga Construction level 2 teams who 
completed an extension of the main performance stage at 
Barunga.  

Several joint programs between RJCP and other service 
providers have also provided very good outcomes. At 
Ngukurr, the Horticulture program done with Councils 
Youth Services and the Safe Paths Project done with the 
Council Muns team and Community Corrections are 
good examples. Our team of top quality industry trainers 
have been critically important in the success of these 
projects.

The Ngukurr Youth Services hosted a very successful 
jobs expo which has helped many young people in 
Community to focus their career plans. Sport and 
Recreation ran a number of successful Australia Day 
events and school holiday Programs and have started 
to introduce several new sports including Hockey in 
communities.

The Crèche in Beswick was opened after extensive 
renovation. This has provided the Town with an industry 
standard facility.

A highpoint for the year was the production of a play by 
the young people of Jilkminggan about the impacts of 
alcohol on local communities. This was funded by ABC 
Rural’s Heywire funding and involved many people in 
the town and created a lot of discussion around the issues 
raised by the play and seen through children’s eyes 

Our Night Patrol Community Safety program also 
received well deserved recognition for services including 
individual awards to Ernest Numamurdiri from 
Numbulwar who received a Police Commissioners 
Commendation and a Child Protection award. The 
Mataranka and Borroloola Night Patrols were also 
commended by Police for their actions in two serious 
incidents in their towns.  
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Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline
Number of employees in community services programs  235

Net movement in employees  82

Financial Indicator

Percentage of targeted income in the period  88%

Budget utilisation rate in the period 85% 

Percentage actual costs against budgeted cost in the period 88%

Remote Jobs and Communities Program Key Performance Indicators

Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline

Number of RJCP job seekers 1322 

Number of jobseekers commencing training in the period 136 

Number of RJCP participants engaged in Night Patrol  0

Number of staff employed by the RSAS 0

Effectiveness

Net movement in RJCP job seekers N/A

Number of job seekers placed in structured activities  446

Number of job seekers gaining paid employment  117

Number of staff employed by Remote School Attendance Strategy 43
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Ngukurr RJCP Team working hard

Ngukurr RJCP was very busy completing projects all 
around the community, bringing health and safety to 
Ngukurr with a new chemical shed at the local pool, 
protecting children from dangerous chemicals. Also 
a park play set is a fun place for kids to occupy their 
afternoons and weekends. 

Ngukurr RJCP has a total of 8 teams at present 
comprising of 15 participants and one supervisor 
(with another 4 teams to be filled).

This year RJCP teams have completed civil projects 
like cemetery restoration, lawns and maintenance, 
Shade and shelter for Park benches and BBQ areas, 
market garden and youth activities. All works were 
completed by local men and women of Ngukurr 
supporting the growth and development of their home 
lands. The RGRC RJCP has been received very well by 
the local community and looks set to accomplish great 
work.

Getting behind the wheel

For many of us getting our drivers licence was one 
of life’s pivotal moments, an opening of a door. The 
process felt really hard but probably wasn’t all that 
difficult in reality. 

Getting a drivers licence in very remote communities 
in the Northern Territory however can be a real 
challenge for people living in these communities 
and not having a Drivers licence can greatly reduce 
employability and social mobility. 

It is no surprise then that one of the most common 
charges heard in the NT Magistrates court is driving 
while unlicenced. Add to this 32% of vehicle 
accidents in remote areas involve unlicenced drivers 
further points to a real problem. Having a large 
group of people offending is a big cost to the court 
system and leaves people with criminal records. 
Leaving people isolated in towns with little public 
transport is also a problem. Without a licence getting 
a job is much harder.

To help people get through the licence process Roper 
Gulf Regional Council with Drive Safe NT have 
been running a driver training program. Since 2013 
more than 62 learner’s licences and 22 provisional 
licences have resulted from this training mostly in the 
towns of Ngukurr and Numbulwar. 

This program provided the learner with an 
understanding of road rules and road safety and at 
least 10 hours supervised driving experience with 
an experienced driving instructor in a dual control 
vehicle. This has prepared the trainee driver for the 
licence test run by NT Drive Safe assessors which 
usually occurs in the home community.

The program has also helped people with the process 
of getting adequate proof of identity, a potentially 
daunting process for many in communities. It also 
caters for varying language and literacy skills. 

The drivers training courses were ran in the “top 
road” communities of Beswick, Barunga, Bulman, 
Binjari, Manyallaluk, Jilkminggan, Mataranka, 
Ngukurr and Numbulwar. There was no cost for the 
training. 
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Community Services
Community Services Unit incorporates several agency funded programs including Aged and Disability Care, Centrelink, 
School Nutrition Program, Crèche, Library and Indigenous Broadcasting Program which is run in various service delivery 
centres in the Roper Gulf region.

Key Performance Indicators

Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline

Number of children enrolled in crèche 41

Number of Aged Care clients 59

Number of staff - crèche 6

Number of staff – Aged Care 17

Number of community broadcasting licences held 5

Effectiveness

Aged Care staff to client ratio 1:3

Crèche staff to client ratio 1:7

Percentage of school days on which the school nutrition program operated 99

No of breakfasts provided for school nutrition program 521

No of lunches provided for school nutrition program 1550

No of hours of local programming broadcast 160

No of hours of programming that supports local culture broadcast per week 15

Efficiency 
Indicator

No of hours of programming that supports local Indigenous languages 
broadcast 

80

Aged Care staff to client ratio compared to previous year 1:4 Last year 
1:2 This year
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Big Praise for the Ngukurr Crèche 

Denise Daniels has worked for Roper Gulf Regional 
Council at the Ngukurr Crèche for six good years 
with lots of memorable moments. In early in October 
she had a real high point. Denise who is a Trainee 
Supervisor and Child Care Educator has seen a lot 
over the years having started with Roper Gulf Shire in 
2008 and previously for the Community Council. 

Denise represented RGRC and the Ngukurr Crèche 
at the annual NT Excellence in Children and Child 
Care and Education awards presented by Education 
Minister Hon Peter Chandler at Parliament House 
in Darwin. The awards acknowledge commitment 
to delivering high quality service for children and 
families. 

Ngukurr Crèche was shortlisted in the category 
“Outstanding Education and Care Services in a 
Budget Based Funded service. The Ngukurr Crèche 
has 20 Children enrolled and operates five days a 
week, year round.

“This is a great achievement for a small community 
based service. It was the first time we have been 
nominated and to get shortlisted is really exciting”, 
said Regional Manager of Community Services Lara 
Brennan. “We have been working very hard to provide 
a top quality service here and at all other Child Care 
Centres run in the Roper Gulf region. 

It recognises we can provide a bench mark service even 
in a very remote location.”

The Annual Survey Questions for Aged Care Services

1. Yu gudbingi gadim ola daga?                                                           

Are you satisfied with the meals and desserts?

2. Yu rekin yu abum big mob daga ebritaim?                                      

Do you think there is enough food in each meal?           

3. Ola wekingel dei albumbat yumob ola taim?                                   

Are staff efficient, helpful and cooperative?

4. Yu rekin dei dum gud wek?                                                               

Is service standard good, prompt and reliable?   

5. Yu rekin dei dum wek streidawei wen yu askimi?                           

Do staff respond to client’s individual needs?

6. Yu rekin ola wekingel gadim gudwan skil blanga 
album yumob? 

Do staff have the right skills and experience to 
support clients? 

7. Yumob rekin wen yu peiyimbat im alrite?                                        

Are the payment methods easy to use?

8. Wanem daga yu laigim?

What is your favourite food?

9. Yu gadim eni dietary special needs?

Do you have any special dietary requirement?

10. Any daga yu laigim blanga pudum langa ola meal?

Are there any foods that you would like to see 
included in the meals?

11. Yu gadim enijing blanga meigim dijan wuman 
centre blanga wek gudwei?

Do you have any suggestions/ ideas on how to 
improve service – Laundry, Transport, Daycentre, 
School Nutrition Program, Goals?
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Community Safety 

Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline

Number of night patrols per week  55

Number of patrollers employed  49

Number of patrollers who were former RJCP participants  0

Total number of children enrolled in out of school hours care  NA

Of the total enrolled in out of school hours care, number of 
Indigenous children

 NA

Number of Indigenous Sports and Recreation officers employed  19/21

Total Number of young people receiving case management under 
Youth Diversion

 8

Number of people participating in Youth Diversion activities  108

The number of Indigenous people who successfully completed 
accredited training in coaching/officiating

3 Level IV

Total number of people assisted by Night Patrollers  4991

Total number of children attending out of school hours care  698

Number of vacation and/or educational programs operated  8 x educational 
workshops, training and 

activities

Number of episodes involving identified cultural activities  27 Cultural activities

Number of clients receiving counselling and case management  8 Formal

26 Informal

Number of people participating in Youth in Communities 
activities

 1548

Keeping Children safe—Numbulwar’s Ernest Numamurdirdi receives NT “Play your Part” Award

Numbulwar’s Night Patrol Team leader Ernest 
Numamurdirdi was announced the NAPCAN 
NT Play your Part Award winner for 2014. The 
award recognises inspiring prevention initiatives of 
individuals, communities and organisations that have 
played their part in creating safer communities for 
children and young people. 

Ernest is Team Leader of Night Patrol at Roper Gulf 
Regional Council’s Numbulwar community. Ernest 

has worked with the Night Patrol for five years, and 
been a Team Leader for the past year. 

Ernest’s peers attest to the fact that he has a natural 
flair for engaging with kids and youth. Ernest spends 
time talking to youth at schools in the afternoons, 
making sure they are heading home or to sporting 
activities. He is considered a role model within the 
community, and encourages youth to get involved 
in activities in order to keep them safe and out of 
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trouble. He ensures that these young people get to 
their training, and get a routine of keeping up with 
their commitments. 

Ernest does his patrol within the Numbulwar 
community from 6pm up to 2.30am five nights per 
week. Ernest works with three other Night Patrollers 
who drive and walk the streets of the town engaging 
with young people whom they encounter. He often 
offers them a lift home, and speaks to the parents/
families/carer when he arrives. He spends many hours 
every night talking to and delivering children to a 
safe environment whilst also diverting children and 
youth from negative activities through mentoring 
and positive support. 

There is no doubt that Ernest is indeed an inspiring 
individual and one who has a special way with 
people. The genuine interest and time he gives these 
young people is making a difference to their lives. 

While Ernest is undoubtedly good at his job, it goes 
further than that. He is a role model to children and 
young people whether he is at work or not, and has 
a genuine interest in them and gives time to children 
and young people. 

Mr. Numamurdirdi earlier this year was awarded a 
commendation from the NT Police Commissioner 
for his work with the Night Patrol. 

Police commended Borroloola Night Patrol’s 
professionalism at a horrific scene.

A quiet night in December 2014 erupted into a 
major incident for the Borroloola Night Patrol team 
when they were called to a home to assist a man who 
had been assaulted and had lost a large amount of 
blood.

Night Patrol provided immediate first aid and calmed 
down a large group of family and others until Police 
and the ambulance arrived.

“It was a complete mess when we arrived, blood 
everywhere and the family was frantic”, said Team 
Leader Justin.  “We also knew the assailant left as we 
arrived and didn’t know if he was coming back”. 

The Night Patrol team helped manage a large crowd, 
stabilised and cleaned up the scene and found 
accommodation for the family who were unable to 
remain in the house.

“The team worked really well under difficult 
circumstances,” said Justin. “We all knew the victim 
… but that’s why Night Patrol works so well, we 
know our community and they know and trust us.”

Police at the scene commended the team on their 
calmness and professional ability during the incident.

Council Services Manager Nathan McIvor also 
commended the Night Patrol team.

“It’s good to hear about our proactive team. Night 
Patrol is often the forgotten service. Strong teams and 
strong leadership proves that Night Patrol can make 
a difference and it was shown during this incident. 
I am proud of the work that the team does here in 
Borroloola.”

Justin was asked if Night Patrol gets thanked by the 
community for their difficult work.

“Not often, so I guess it is good to get 
acknowledgment from the Police, but it’s my job to 
help … that’s what Night Patrol does.”
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Ngukurr Embraces its Bush Plant Heritage

During the year many Ngukurr Youth got engaged 
with the Veggie Garden Project (Gudwan Daga) which 
inturn led to an interest in Bush Food and Medicine 
plants. As a result field excursions were organised for 
participants accompanied by community Elders who 
were known for their knowledge of Indigenous plants.

In early July Elder Betty Roberts gave her time to 
share with Ngukurr Youth the history and usage of the 
many special plants on Namurluri Homeland. Betty is 
one of Ngukurr’s oldest residents and foremost sources 
of bush food and medicine plant knowledge. Betty 
told the story of how clans were kept sustained by 
eating the versatile Water Lily (YoYo) and Bush Plums 
(Dogs Nuts) as well as using bark and leaves from 
Paper Bark (Nalanga) to cure illnesses.

On a recent excursion in October, 
participants were taken bush for 
two days with Elder Andy Peters 
to learn about the uses of various 
trees. Andy described how in 
the Ironwood tree (Maipigin) 
was used for canoe paddles and 
Nulla Nullas as well the resin 
from the roots is used to bind 

spears. Andy outlined the uses of 
the Peanut tree (Gutu), how it 
is used as an antiseptic as well as 
being used for making Woomeras 
and Fire Torches, the bark of 
the Murruganawa tree used to 
paralyse fish making them easy to 
catch and the sweet plum from 
the Munnjuj as a favourite treat. 
The group set about learning to identify 
some of these trees and finding samples that could be 
replanted back in the community.

The field trips were well received by the young 
participants and have the potential to engage 
and reconnect disaffected youth to country and 
community as well as passing on vital knowledge to 
the next generation of botanists. With this in mind 
an application was made to seek funding from the 
Ngukurr Local Authority to support a formalised 
youth engagement program called Landscaping with 
Bush Plants Project which has successfully been 
approved funding. The Ngukurr Local Authority can 
see this project as being very beneficial to both the 
participant and ultimately the Ngukurr Community. 

Youth rewarded with a taste of Station life

On the 15th January young people from the towns of 
Beswick, Barunga and Manyallauk went on holiday 
for three days to one of the better known tourist 
destination in the Northern Territory, Mt Bundy 
Station. Mt Bundy is located just out of Adelaide 
River and is popular with visitors from Australia and 
around the world as a place to experience Territory 
and station life. Even for our young campers, all from 
very remote communities, this experience was new 
and exciting.

The camping event away from families helps build 
independence and self confidence while expanding life 
opportunities. The young people chosen to participate 
in the camp displayed solid school attendance last 
year. This camp was a reward for such commitment.  

Mt Bundy Station was a good camp and quite a 
different experience for kids. Along with the activities 
of station life, kids also got do Tai Chi, which was very 

popular and they also had an inspirational session with 
the Fit for Life team which focused on leadership. 

The campers prepared their own meals and completed 
all chores as a group, enthusiastically and largely 
without prompting. The kids also visited to the 
grave of the original station owner and did a 
small  ceremony to thank him for welcoming them 
to his station, which was the traditional way of 
acknowledging when visiting others land. 

The Holiday was funded under a Youth Vibes Grant 
and was organised by Roper Gulf Sport Recreation 
Staff and volunteers.
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Goal Four
Support employment, training and economic development

Strategic Programs for 2014-15
• Future employment programs incorporating real training and Local People, Local Jobs

• Future proofing and financial stability through commercial initiatives, partnerships 
and projects

• Supporting economic growth in Communities

• Enhanced productivity with strategic asset and infrastructure management 

Marc Gardner, Director Contracts and Technical Services

The Contracts and Technical Services directorate of 
Council oversees a number of critical functions all aimed 
at improving the commercial business of Council’s 
operations. The directorate is responsible for a range of 
services including:

• Asset Management
• Outstations and technical services
• Civil Works
• Power Water Contract
• Territory Housing Contracts
• Mechanical Workshop
• Fencing Program (Territory Housing)
• Visitor Accommodation
• Street lighting
• Airports
• Other contracts and major projects
During the 2014/15 year, the Council experienced 
significant changes which saw the closing down of the civil 
works section based in Katherine in July for economic 
reasons and to focus on undertaking civil works projects 
using staff and machinery from communities as well and 

contracting out some works to other companies in the 
region.

RGRC continued to operate the contract for essential 
services (electricity, water, sewerage) at Manyallaluk and 
Jilkminggan and with successful completion of one year 
of Territory Housing contracts, we have now entered in 
to the second year of the five year contract with Territory 
Housing for repairs and maintenance, as well as providing 
tenancy management services for community housing.

Council’s Mechanical Workshop continued to improve 
with changes to fleet management policies and procedures 
seeing better care of Council’s vehicles, plant and 
equipment. Management also introduced a regime of 
community visits with qualified mechanics to ensure that 
servicing, repairs, maintenance and safety of our fleet were 
kept at optimum levels. 

The fencing project was continued. Council employed 
local Indigenous staff to learn skills by undertaking 
training in fencing construction and maintenance. An 
Indigenous leading hand also became a competent leader 
on this project. 
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Measure Performance Measure As at 30 June 2015

Baseline Measure 

Total amount of funds generated from external contract work (all 
contracts in directorate)

2,492,491

Total amount of income of directorate 2,659,802

Total amount of expenditure of directorate 3,607,068

Total number of directorate staff 41

Increase or decrease of directorate staff 4

Number of tenancy management requests 722

Number of tenancy management requests completed 786

Total number of visitor accommodation rooms 44

Number of available visitor accommodation rooms in all 
communities

28

Number of external visitors staying in RGRC accommodation 266

Ratio of internal to external visitor charges per quarter 32:28

Number of commercial contracts which aim to contribute to the 
core services of RGRC

18

Income and expense for each program, service, and or contract Reported in AFS*

Amount of project management revenue 522,748

Effectiveness

Occupancy rates of visitor accommodation (number of rooms 
available to number of rooms used)

N/R

Percentage of actual net profit to budgeted net profit for the 
Directorate of Contracts and Economic Development

Reported in AFS*

Number of indigenous vocational training programs offered through 
directorate

5

Number of formal economic partnerships with other organisations 3

Percentage reduction repairs and maintenance costs Reported in AFS*

*Annual Financial Statement
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Civil Works (road works, drainage, 
earthmoving etc) 
Major projects completed or commenced during the year 
included:

• Weemol Access Road - full resheet
• Manyallaluk (Eva Valley) Jump-Up
• Numbulwar/Ngukurr – full maintenance grading 

(several times)
• Borroloola – subdivision reseal and kerbing 

(PowerWater project)
• Numbulwar Airport Road (procurement commenced)
Plus a number of minor projects in other townships.

Power Water Contract
Council continued to operate the contract for essential 
services (electricity, water, sewerage) at Manyallaluk and 
Jilkminggan.  

Territory Housing Contracts
This is the second year of the five year contracts with 
Territory Housing for repairs and maintenance, as well as 
providing tenancy management services for community 
housing.  Roper Gulf Regional Council is the only 
Council in the Northern Territory awarded a contract to 
provide these services and we utilise our strong indigenous 
employment program links to ensure that the contracts are 
performed well.

The contracts only related to the communities of: 

• Bulman
• Barunga

• Beswick
• Manyallaluk
• Jilkminggan
• Minyerri (Hodgson Downs)
• Ngukurr 
• Numbulwar
• Plus Binjari and Cutta Cutta Caves (not in Council 

area)
This year we have experienced some staffing challenges 
and completion of works. However, overall the contract 
has continued to employ 8 tenancy management staff in 
the above communities as well as 9 housing maintenance 
officers. This contract has the advantage of operating for 
5 years meaning stable employment for indigenous staff 
as well as career and training pathways that have not been 
available before. 

Efficiency

Increase in economically viable training partnerships per year 1

Percentage completion of long term asset management plans for 
directorate assets (total number of assets/completed plans)

50%

Increase of net profit from previous year (annual KPI) and 
Economic Development

Reported in AFS*

Increase in Indigenous employment in RGRC technical services 
operations

3

Increase of net profit from previous year Reported in AFS*
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Mechanical Workshop

Council’s Mechanical 
Workshop continued to 
improve with a changes to 
fleet management policies 
and procedures seeing 
better care of Council’s 
vehicles, plant and 
equipment. Management 
also introduced a regime 
of community visits with 
qualified mechanics to 

ensure that servicing, repairs, maintenance and safety of 
our fleet were kept at optimum levels. 

Unfortunately, due to reduction in Council’s fleet 
and also a move to dispose of maintenance reliant 
older vehicles, the level of work required by internal 
mechanics has reduced significantly and Council was 
required to reduce staffing levels at the Numbulwar 
Workshop as well as the workshop in Katherine. 
Council also changed the structure of the workshop to 
be under our Assets section. 

Housing Maintenance Program - Fencing

Council was successful in being awarded a contract 
in 2012/13 for a fencing program involving over 
120 fences to be built at Bulman, Beswick, Barunga, 
Manyallaluk and Urapunga. Due to various reasons 
the project did not kick off properly until the 13/14 
financial year and concluded at the end of the 14/15 
financial year. 

At the start of the financial year, the program 
continued at Beswick with fencing 38 community 
houses at Beswick which concluded in December. 
This contract for Territory Housing also saw 17 fences 
erected at Bulman and Weemol with the support of 
Council’s Outstations and Technical Services Section 
as well as 42 new or repaired fences at Barunga and 9 
new or repaired fences at Manyallaluk. 

At each location in the project, Council employed 
local Indigenous staff to learn skills and undertake 
training in fencing construction and maintenance. 
The program was mostly undertaken by a team of 
Indigenous staff from each community with the 
assistance of a ‘Builder Trades Trainer’ who ensured 
that each staff member gained competency in fencing 
that can be used in the future for any fencing repairs 
and maintenance. 

The program was successful in have over 43 
Indigenous staff directly employed by Council from 
the communities where the program was delivered and 
demonstrates Council’s commitment to Indigenous 
employment and training pathways for local residents 
with the assistance of the Northern Territory 
Government. In addition to this, most community 
housing in the townships where the program was 
rolled out have strong reliable and straight fences that 
really lift the amenity of our towns.

The program concluded 
in July 2015 and was 
both a commercial and 
Indigenous employment 
related success for 
Council. Other locations 
such as Numbulwar, 
Ngukurr, Minyerri and 
Jilkminggan are yet to be 
confirmed with Territory 
Housing about the future 
of the program.
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Visitor accommodation 

Council’s visitor accommodation was a significant 
focus for the directorate during 2014/15 with the 
development of a centralised booking system, upgrades 
to facilities and new processes. 

Lot 297b Contractor’s Quarters at Ngukurr received 
a major facelift with funding assistance from the 
Northern Territory Government. In addition to 
this Council also commenced procurement for 
demountable type accommodation units at Bulman 

which will likely see up to 8 bedrooms being available 
and considerably change Council’s ability to support 
this township with regional staff being able to stay 
overnight in the township (prior to this, Council did 
not have any dedicated visitor accommodation in the 
community). 

Council continued to operate other visitor 
accommodation at Beswick, Barunga, Numbulwar and 
Ngukurr throughout the year as well.

Other contracts
Australia Post 

Council continued to operate a range of Australia Post contract 
with mail sorting and some delivery, particularly to all locations 
(except Borroloola, Minyerri, Daly Waters and Larrimah).  

Airports

Council has contracts with the Department of Infrastructure for 
maintenance on airports and airstrips in the region. Below is a 
list that we are responsible for maintaining. 

Township Call sign Runway Length Surface

Barunga (Bamyili) YBMY 814m Unsealed (gravel)
Borroloola YBRL 1133m Sealed
Bulman (Delara) YDEA 871m Sealed
Manyallaluk (Eva Valley) YEVV 1028m Unsealed (gravel)
Mataranka (Ginty’s)* YMAR 1019m Unsealed (gravel)
Ngukurr YNGU 1328m Sealed
Numbulwar YNUM 1154m Sealed
Urapunga YUPG 952m Unsealed (gravel)

*The only airstrip owned by Council, all others are the responsibility of the NTG who contract Council to undertake maintenance. 

Council has focused heavily on training and safety 
procedures with the airport operations which also saw 
upgrades to fences at the Numbulwar and Bulman 
Airports (primarily to stop buffalos), and the Borroloola 
Airport (security fence). Council was contracted by the 
Department to complete these projects. 

Highway rubbish collection

A small contract with the Department of Infrastructure 
for cleaning up roadside verges at the Stuart Highway 
– Central Arnhem Road intersection and the Stuart 
Highway at Mataranka entrances continued to operate as 
usual for the financial year. 
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This section contains the Audited 
Financial Statements of Roper Gulf 
Regional Council 2014-15. These 
statements are an indictor for the Roper 
Gulf Regional Council’s position and 
performance as at 30 June 2015.



FINANCIAL
REPORT

SECTION 4



2014-2015 Financial Report
The 2014-15 financial year, saw a marked improvement in 
the financial reporting and financial management of Roper 
Gulf Regional Council. Roper Gulf Regional Council is 
able to meet its 15th of November reporting deadline for 
the General Purpose Financial Report. 

There is no qualification on the General Purpose Financial 
Report and we have a clean audit for this year. 

Comprehensive budgets for all of the region’s communities 
and program areas were also promptly completed this 
year, giving council staff and residents improved financial 
information about its operations. Council is now 
reviewing its budgets on a quarterly basis and managers 
are provided monthly financial reports to monitor their 
budgets closely.  Presentations are now presented in the 
Council Meetings for the monthly financial reports along 
with excel reports. 

The 2014-15 Report indicates overall revenue of $38.3 
million and expenditure of $39.2 million. The deficit of 
$.95 million was driven by the council inability to fund 
the depreciation of approximately $3.6 million. Valuations 
of fixed assets were carried in this financial year and $23.7 
million was recognised as gain on revaluations of assets 
and increase in council’s revaluation reserves. 

Government grants and contract income continued to 
represent a very significant share of revenue for Roper 
Gulf in 2014-15. Total grant income was $22.4 million, 
or about 58.53 per cent of total revenue, of which $16.2 
million was tied to specific purposes. Tied government 
contract income was $6.6 million, representing another 
17.2 per cent of the total revenue. 

The significance of tied funding for Roper Gulf Regional 
Council indicates the low level of discretionary income 
the council has at its disposal. This is underscored by 
the proportionately very low level of rates, charges and 
fees revenue the Shire collected during 2014-15, which 
covered only 3.8 per cent of total expenses.

Employee expenses, at $18.7 million, continued to be the 
largest expenditure item for the region. This represents 
about 47.67 per cent of total expenses. The employee 
cost ratio is high compared to local governments in 
other jurisdictions. However, the figure highlights 
the importance of the council’s role in generating 
employment for local residents. In 2014-15, Roper Gulf 
Regional Council continued to be the largest employer of 
Indigenous people in its region. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council continues to be in a healthy 
cash position, with $13.2 million in cash reserves and cash 
equivalents as at 30 June 2015.

Category  Amount  

Employee Cost  $ 18,735,428

Material and Contracts  $ 8,121,415 

Depreciation & Amortisation Expense  $ 3,636,140

Communication  $ 462,879

Food and Catering  $ 515,595 

Fuel and Oil  $ 694,373

Insurance  $ 565,333 

Leases  $ 648,216 

Repair and Maintenance  $ 329,352 

Travel and Accommodation  $ 1,108,006 

Training and Seminars  $ 1,030,871 

Utilities  $ 892,051 

Other Expenses  $ 2,557,364

Total Expenses  $ 39,297,023

FOOD AND  
CATERING 

$ 515,595
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EMPLOYEE COSTS 
$ 18,735,428

MATERIALS AND 
CONTRACTS 
$8,121,415DEPRECIATION AND 

AMORTISATION EXPENSE 
$3,636,140

COMMUNICATION 
$ 462,879

FOOD AND  
CATERING 

$ 515,595

FUEL  
AND OIL 
$ 694,373

INSURANCE 
$565,333

LEASES 
$648,216

REPAIR AND 
MAINTENANCE 

$329,352

TRAVEL AND 
ACCOMMODATION 

$1,108,006

UTILITIES 
$ 892,051TRAINING AND 

SEMINARS 
$1,030,871

OTHER EXPENSES 
$2,557,364

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
$39,297,023
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Roper Gulf Regional Council 
ABN: 94 746 956 090 
Annual report for the financial year ended 30 June 2015
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Roper Gulf Regional Council  
ABN: 94 746 956 090 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

5

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 

Note 

Year end  
30 June 2015 

$

Year end 
30 June 2014 

$

Revenue 
Grants and contributions 3(a) 22,448,490 19,134,889 
User charges and fees 3(b) 292,249 256,740 
Rates and other charges 3(c) 1,201,890 1,247,294 
Other revenue 3(d) 13,740,172 12,411,887 
Gains on disposal of assets 5 395,787 420,818 
Investment income  270,438 299,772 
Total Revenue 38,349,026 33,771,400 

Expenses  
Employee costs 4(a) 18,735,428 18,549,255 
Materials and contracts 4(b) 8,121,415 6,421,314 
Depreciation and amortisation 4(c) 3,636,140 3,898,830 
Other expenses 4(e) 8,804,040 8,169,033 
Total Expenses 39,297,023 37,038,432 

Deficit for the year (947,997) (3,267,032)

Other comprehensive income for the year  

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  23,725,559 -

Total comprehensive income for the year 22,777,562 (3,267,032)

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 

Note 
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30 June 2015 

$

Year end 
30 June 2014 

$

Revenue 
Grants and contributions 3(a) 22,448,490 19,134,889 
User charges and fees 3(b) 292,249 256,740 
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Materials and contracts 4(b) 8,121,415 6,421,314 
Depreciation and amortisation 4(c) 3,636,140 3,898,830 
Other expenses 4(e) 8,804,040 8,169,033 
Total Expenses 39,297,023 37,038,432 
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Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2015 

Note 
2015 

$
2014 

$
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 6 13,229,260 9,467,899 
Trade and other receivables 7 1,341,947 2,901,966 
Other financial assets 8 599,336 580,286 
Inventories 9 230,377 166,166 
Other assets 10 39,296 163,782 
Total current assets 15,440,216 13,280,099 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 11 54,097,451 33,056,019 
Total non-current assets 54,097,451 33,056,019 

Total assets 69,537,667 46,336,118 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 12 3,964,237 3,551,995 
Provisions 13 1,665,201 1,505,533 
Total current liabilities 5,629,438 5,057,528 

Non-current liabilities 
Provisions 13 384,289 532,212 
Total non-current liabilities 384,289 532,212 

Total liabilities 6,013,727 5,589,740 

Net assets 63,523,940 40,746,378 

Equity 
Revaluation reserve 14 44,170,031 20,444,472 
Accumulated funds  19,353,909 20,301,906 
Total equity 63,523,940 40,746,378 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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$
2014 

$
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Trade and other receivables 7 1,341,947 2,901,966 
Other financial assets 8 599,336 580,286 
Inventories 9 230,377 166,166 
Other assets 10 39,296 163,782 
Total current assets 15,440,216 13,280,099 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 11 54,097,451 33,056,019 
Total non-current assets 54,097,451 33,056,019 

Total assets 69,537,667 46,336,118 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 12 3,964,237 3,551,995 
Provisions 13 1,665,201 1,505,533 
Total current liabilities 5,629,438 5,057,528 
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Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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ABN: 94 746 956 090  

Statement of changes in equity 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

$

Accumulated 
Funds 

$
Total 

$
   

Balance as at 1 July 2013 20,444,472 23,568,938 44,013,410 
Total comprehensive income for the year - (3,267,032) (3,267,032)
Balance at 30 June 2014 20,444,472 20,301,906 40,746,378 

   
Balance as at 1 July 2014 20,444,472 20,301,906 40,746,378 
Total comprehensive income for the year 23,725,559 (947,997) 22,777,562 
Balance at 30 June 2015 44,170,031 19,353,909 63,523,940 

    
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 
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Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 

Note

Year end  
30 June 2015 

$

Year end  
30 June 2014 

$
Cash flows from operating activities   
Grants received 22,448,490 19,134,889 
Receipts from customers 16,854,607 12,407,263 
Interest received 270,438 299,772 
Payments to suppliers and employees (35,236,898) (33,213,269)

Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities 18(b) 4,336,637 (1,371,346)

Cash flows from investing activities 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (1,290,409) (1,822,382)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  734,183 617,168 
Acquisitions of short-term investments  (19,050) (10,286)

Net cash used in investing activities (575,276) (1,215,500)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing activities - -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,761,361 (2,586,846)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 9,467,899 12,054,745 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18(a) 13,229,260 9,467,899 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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Net cash used in investing activities (575,276) (1,215,500)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing activities - -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,761,361 (2,586,846)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 9,467,899 12,054,745 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18(a) 13,229,260 9,467,899 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 9 to 29 
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1. General information 
The Roper Gulf Regional Council (the “Council” or “RGRC”) was established as a body corporate by a restructuring 
order under section 114C of the Local Government Act on 16 October 2007. The Council came into full operation on 
1 July 2008, when it merged with other constituent councils to form the local government authority, also referred to as 
the Roper Gulf Regional Council. The new council incorporated six (6) local government bodies: 
1. Borroloola Community Government Council; 
2. Jilkminggan Community Government Council; 
3. Mataranka Community Government Council; 
4. Numbulwar Numburindi Community Government Council; 
5. Nyirranggulung Mardulk Ngadberre Regional Council; 
6. Yugul Mangi Community Government Council; and  
a large area of currently unincorporated land, the Gulf, Roper Valley, Stuart Plateau and Southern Arnhem Land. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council registered office and its principal place of business is as follows:  

Registered office 
P.O. Box 1321, 
Katherine, NT 0851  

Principal place of business 
29 Crawford Street 
Katherine, NT 0850 

The Council has its main office located in Katherine NT. The business of the Council is conducted within the 
community government area situated in the Northern and Eastern Regions around Katherine.  

The purpose of this financial report is to provide users with information about the stewardship of the Council and 
accountability for the resources entrusted to it, information about the financial position, performance and cash flow of 
the Council. 

2. Significant accounting policies  
Financial reporting framework 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, the requirements of the Local Government 
Act, the Local Government (Accounting) Regulations and other authoritative pronouncements  of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). The Council is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 28 October 2015. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain properties that are 
measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies below. 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. All 
amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Council takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in AASB 102 ‘Inventories’ or value in use in 
AASB “Impairment of Assets” 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the 
fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date; 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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2. Significant accounting policies  

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report: 

(a) Revenue and Other Income 

The Council recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of Roper Gulf Council’s 
activities as discussed below. 

Grants, Donations and other Contributions 
Grants, Donations and other Contributions are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income when the entity obtains control or the right to receive the grant, donation or other 
contribution, it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount 
of the grant can be measured reliably. 

When the grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in the 
statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the 
grant is recognised as income on receipt. 

Roper Gulf Regional Council receives non-reciprocal contributions of the assets from the government and other 
parties for zero or a nominal value. These assets are recognised at fair value on the date of the acquisition in the 
statement of financial position, with a corresponding amount of the income recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 

Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Rates 
Rates are enforceable debt linked to rateable property that will be recovered when the property is sold, and 
therefore control normally passes at the time of levying, or where earlier upon receipt of rates paid in advance. 
The rating period and reporting period for the Council coincide and accordingly, all rates levied for the year are 
recognised as revenues. 

Uncollected rates are recognised as receivables. A provision is recognised when full collection is no longer 
probable.  

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

(b) Leasing 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred. 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

(c) Employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and 
long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured 
reliably.  

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
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2. Significant accounting policies 

Employee benefits (cont’d) 

Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Council in respect of services provided by employees up to 
reporting date. 

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have 
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 

(d) Income tax 

The Council is tax exempt under section 50-25 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, being a local governing 
body. 

(e) Property, plant and equipment 

Asset Recognition Threshold 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost in the statement of financial position, 
except for purchases costing less than $5,000 which are expensed in the year of acquisition (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total.  

Property plant and equipment other than Land, Building, Site Improvement and Structure and Roads is carried at 
cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

Revaluations 
Land, Building, Site Improvement and Structure and Roads are measured at fair value, in accordance with AASB 
116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

Following initial recognition at cost, Land, Building, Site Improvement and Structure and Roads are carried at fair 
value less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Valuations are conducted 
in sufficient frequency (from 3 to 5 years) to ensure that the carrying amounts of assets did not differ materially 
from the assets' fair values as at the end of reporting date. The regularity of independent valuations depends 
upon the volatility of movements in market values of relevant assets. 

A comprehensive revaluation of entire Land, Building, Site Improvement and Structure and Roads of the Council 
as of 30 June 2015 was conducted by Maloney Field Services. This is the second revaluation that has been 
undertaken in relation to assets held by the Council. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the assets (Land, 
Building, Site Improvement and Structure and Roads) after revaluation is the restated amount calculated by 
eliminating any accumulated depreciation as at revaluation date against the gross carrying amounts of the assets. 

Revaluation adjustments are made on a class basis. Any revaluation increment upon appraisal is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity. To the extent that any 
revaluation decrease or impairment loss has previously been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase is 
credited to profit or loss with the remaining part of the increase recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Revaluation decrements are recognised upon appraisal or impairment testing, with the decrease being charged to 
other comprehensive income to the extent of any asset revaluation reserve in equity relating to this asset and any 
remaining decrease recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation reserve remaining in equity on disposal of the 
asset is transferred to accumulated funds. 

Depreciation 
Depreciable property, plant and equipment are written off to their estimated residual values over their estimated 
useful lives to the Council using, in all cases, the straight line method.  

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting period and necessary 
adjustments are recognised in the current or current and future reporting periods, as appropriate.  
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2. Significant accounting policies 

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 

The estimated useful lives used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Useful Life 
Buildings and Infrastructure 10-40 years 
Plant and Equipment 4-10 years 
Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings 4-10 years 
Motor Vehicles 5 years 
Roads 20 years 

Impairment 
Property, plant and equipment were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2015. Where indications of impairment 
exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment adjustments is made if the asset’s 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Value in use is 
the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Where the future economic 
benefit of an asset is not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate future cash flows and the asset 
would be replaced if the Council were deprived of the asset, value in use is taken to be its depreciated 
replacement cost.   

Derecognition 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or where no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation 
reserve relating to that asset are transferred to the retained earnings. 

Land under Roads 
The Council has elected not to value or recognise as an asset land under roads acquired prior to 1 July 2008 in 
accordance with the election available under AASB 1051 Land Under Roads.

Land under roads acquired after 1 July 2008 will be recognised at cost. The cost of the land under roads will be 
the fair value as at the date of the acquisition. 

(f) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on the basis of first-in-
first-out. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting 
rebates and discounts. 

(g) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Council will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

ROPER GULF REGIONAL COUNCIL  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014-201598



Roper Gulf Regional Council 
ABN: 94 746 956 090 

Notes to the financial statements 

13

2. Significant accounting policies 

(h) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Council becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. 

Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit 
or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and 
receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

Effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets 
classified as at FVTPL. 

Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash 
flows of the investment have been affected. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent 
periods. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with 
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in 
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets 
The Council derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another party. If the Council neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  
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2. Significant accounting policies 

Financial instruments (cont’d) 
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Council recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Council retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Council continues to recognise the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Council retains an option to 
repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Council allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset 
between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on 
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying 
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no 
longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no 
longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts. 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. 

Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings and trade and other payables, are initially measured at fair value, 
net of transaction costs. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The Council derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Council’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

(i) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of 

the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified 
as operating cash flows. 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.  
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2. Significant accounting policies 

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

(k) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Council’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

The following are significant management judgements and estimates in applying the accounting policies of the 
Council that have the most significant effect on the financial statements. 

Useful Lives of Depreciable Assets 
The Council estimates the useful lives of depreciable assets based on the period over which the assets are 
expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed periodically 
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or 
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. 

Inventories 
Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence 
available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by obsolescence that 
may reduce future selling prices. 

Fair Value of Non-Financial Assets 
Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of non-financial assets. This involves 
developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price the asset. 
Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. In that 
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that 
would be achieved in an arm's length transaction at the reporting date (see Note 11). 

(l) Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 

In the current year, the Council has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the 
current annual reporting period. The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations has 
resulted in no significant changes to the Council’s accounting policies. 

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities’

The amendments to AASB 132 clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ 
and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’. The Council has assessed whether certain of its financial assets 
and financial liabilities qualify for offset based on the criteria set out in the amendments and concluded that the 
application of the amendments does not have any material impact on the amounts recognised in the Council's 
financial statements. 

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ (Part A: Annual Improvements 2010–2012 and 
2011–2013 Cycles) 

The Annual Improvements 2010-2012 has made number of amendments to various AASBs. The amendments to 
AASB 116 and AASB 138 remove perceived inconsistencies in the accounting for accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation when an item of property, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is revalued. The 
amended standards clarify that the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation 
of the carrying amount of the asset and that accumulated depreciation/amortisation is the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the carrying amount after taking into account accumulated impairment losses. The 
application of these amendments does not have any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts 
recognised in the Council's financial statements. 
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2. Significant accounting policies 

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (cont’d) 
Various other Standards and Interpretations were on issue but were not yet effective at the date of authorisation 
of the financial report.  The issue of these Standards and Interpretations does not affect the Council’s present 
policies and operations.  The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in 
future periods will not materially affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Council but may 
change the disclosure presently made in the financial statements of the Council. 

 AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (December 2010) superseding AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (in part), effective 1 January 2018 

 AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and AASB 2014-5 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15’, effective 1 January 2017 

 AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation’, effective 1 January 2016 

 AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation’, effective 1 January 2016 

 AASB 2015-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle’, effective 1 January 2016 

 AASB 2015-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 101’, effective 1 January 2016 

 AASB 2015-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 
1031 Materiality’, effective 1 January 2016 

The Council has not yet assessed the full impact of these amendments. 

(m) Functions 
Revenues, expenses and assets have been attributed to the following functions/activities. The Council believes 
that it is not practical at this stage to reliably attribute the carrying amounts of the assets to the 
functions/activities. Functions have been broken down to the following components: 

General Public Services 
Administrative, legislative and executive affairs, financial and fiscal affairs, general research and general 
services. 

Economic Affairs 
General economic, agriculture and forestry, fuel and energy, other labour and employment affairs, CDEP/RJCP, 
transport and other industries, saleyards and tourism. 

Environmental Protection 
Waste management, pollution reduction, protection of biodiversity and landscape and protection and 
remediation of soil, groundwater and surface water. 

Housing and Community Amenities 
Housing, housing and community development, water supply and street lighting. 

Health 
Well baby clinics, dental health services and home nursing services, nursing and convalescent home services, 
immunisation, infant nutrition and child health, family planning services. 

Recreation, Culture and Religion 
Facilities and venues, recreation parks and reserves, culture and religion services, museums and libraries. 

Education 
Administration, inspection, support, operation, etc of education programs and services. 

Social Protection 
Outlays on day care services, family day care, occasional care and outside school hours care, aged services, 
shelter protection, drug and alcohol treatment programs. 
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3. Revenue and other income 

a) Grants and contributions 

2015 
$

2014 
$

Operating grant - Australian Government 2,831,577 1,293,337 
Operating grant - NT Government 3,457,527 2,094,820 
Special purpose grant - Australian Government 8,954,577 9,428,706 
Special purpose grant - NT Government 4,549,058 4,546,124 
Capital grant - Australian Government 1,361,056 700,277 
Capital grant - NT Government 1,199,640 844,096 
Capital grant - Others - 18,820 
Other grants and contributions 95,055 208,709 
Total grants and contributions 22,448,490 19,134,889 

b) User charges and fees 

2015 
$

2014
$

Property lease rental fee 140,441 201,859 
Other user charge 151,808 54,881 
Total user charges and fees 292,249 256,740 

c) Rates and annual charges 

2015 
$

2014
$

General rate income base 716,033 774,632 
Domestic waste charge income base 485,857 472,662 
Total rates and annual charges 1,201,890 1,247,294 

d) Other revenue 

2015 
$

2014
$

Reimbursement income 5,078,728 1,575,732 
Sales 107,744 67,746 
Service fee 709,037 5,044,056 
Contract fee 6,636,866 4,693,872 
Other operating income 1,207,797 1,030,481 
Total other revenue 13,740,172 12,411,887 

4. Expenses 

a) Employee costs 

2015 
$

2014
$

Salaries wages and leave entitlements 15,475,297 14,932,817 
Superannuation 1,412,256 1,314,631 
Workers compensation 557,523 247,586 
Allowances and other staff costs 1,290,352 2,054,221 
Total employee costs 18,735,428 18,549,255 
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b) Materials and contracts 

2015 
$

2014
$

Consultants 1,279,115 1,011,297 
Contractors 4,986,326 4,249,243 
Materials 1,855,974 1,160,774 
Total materials and contracts 8,121,415 6,421,314 

c) Depreciation and amortisation 

2015 
$

2014
$

Buildings, roads and infrastructure 1,717,440 1,711,068 
Plant and equipment 750,196 894,817 
Furniture and fittings 10,963 11,071 
Motor vehicles 1,157,541 1,281,874 
Total depreciation and amortisation 3,636,140 3,898,830 

d) Other expenses 

2015 
$

2014
$

Accounting and audit fees 89,683 116,122 
Advertising 23,655 37,927 
Bad debts expense 5,505 -
Bank fees and charges 13,351 12,633 
Chairman and councillor payments 307,408 278,795 
Communication 462,879 591,317 
Contributions and donations 35,673 36,300 
Cost of sales 249,981 479,340 
Food and catering 515,595 461,638 
Freight 177,255 130,093 
Fuel and oil 694,373 905,139 
Insurance 565,333 635,106 
Leases 648,216 368,477 
Legal fees 4,403 40,355 
Licenses and registrations 201,766 200,717 
Memberships and subscriptions 63,161 62,867 
Repairs and maintenance 329,352 645,053 
Printing and stationeries 137,316 163,565 
Software and computer expenses 21,441 6,445 
Trainings and seminars 1,030,871 281,464 
Travel and accommodation 1,108,006 998,724 
Utilities 892,051 872,145 
Other expenses 1,226,766 844,811 

8,804,040 8,169,033 

5. Net profit on disposal of assets 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Profit on disposal of assets 439,429 465,076 
Loss on disposal of assets (43,642) (44,258) 
Total gain on disposal of assets 395,787 420,818 
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6. Cash and cash equivalents 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Cash and cash equivalents 13,229,260 9,476,899 

Interest rates on business account ranged from 2.4% to 1.5% in 2015 and 2.4% to 3.75% in 2014. 

Interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents and short-term-deposits (refer to Note 8) amounted to 
$270,438 (2014: $299,772) and is presented as Investment income in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

7. Trade and other receivables 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Trade receivables 1,055,250 2,686,047 
Allowance for doubtful debts (98,000) (73,000) 

957,250 2,613,047 
Goods and services tax recoverable 8,902 44,111 
Rates receivable 375,795 244,808 

1,341,947 2,901,966 

The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables 
however, interest is charged at 18% per annum on outstanding rates.   The collectability of receivables is assessed 
periodically and if there is objective evidence that Council will not be able to collect all amounts due, the carrying 
amount is reduced for impairment. 

The following table details Council's trade and other receivables exposure to credit risk (prior to collateral and other 
credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are considered as 'past 
due' when the debt has not been settled, within the terms and conditions agreed between the Council and the 
customer or counter party to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by 
ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there is objective evidence indicating that the debt 
may not be fully repaid to the Council. The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms are 
considered to be of high credit quality. 

Ageing of receivables that are past due but not impaired 

Not Impaired 

Gross
Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired
Not Past 

Due 31-60 
days

61-90 
days

> 90 
days

2015 
Trade receivables 1,055,250 98,000 926,674 3,416 3,007 24,153 
Other receivables 384,254 - - - - 384,254 

1,439,504 98,000 926,674 3,416 3,007 408,407 
    

2014 
Trade receivables 2,686,047 73,000 1,832,588 381,592 16,230 382,637 
Other receivables 288,919 288,919 

2,974,966 73,000 1,832,588 381,592 16,230 671,556 

The Council does not hold any financial assets with terms that have been renegotiated, but which would otherwise 
be past due or impaired. The other classes of receivables do not contain impaired assets. The Council does not hold 
any collateral over any receivables balances.  The Council holds a charge over rateable property allowing it to 
collect impaired receivables on sale. 
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Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 

2015 
$

2014 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year 73,000 150,000 
Impairment losses recognised on receivables 25,000 -
Impairment loss reversed - (77,000) 
Balance at the end of the year 98,000 73,000 

8. Other financial assets 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost 
Short-term deposits (i) 549,336 530,286 
Investments at cost 
Other (ii) 50,000 50,000 

599,336 580,286 

(i) The Council holds term deposits that carry a fixed rate of 2.5% (2014: 3.45%) with a maturity date of 17 
June 2016. The term deposits are held in an Australian bank. 

(ii) Upon the incorporation of CouncilBiz, the Council made an initial funding contribution of $50,000 

CouncilBiz was incorporated as a Local Government subsidiary on 10 June 2008 and commenced 
operations on 1 July 2008 providing administrative, ICT and Business Systems support services to the 8 
member Shires. It is a Local Government subsidiary, created as part of the Northern Territory Local 
Government Reform Agenda, under the Local Government Act 2008 and Regulations. 

Under the terms and conditions of CouncilBIZ Constitution, the debts and liabilities of CouncilBiz are 
guaranteed by the members in equal shares or on the basis of the formula agreed by the members. 

Upon the dissolution of CouncilBiz, the amount that remains after such dissolution and the settlement of all 
debts and liabilities shall be transferred to another organisation with a similar purpose as agreed to by the 
members with similar rules to CouncilBiz, such as prohibiting the distribution of assets and income to its 
members. 

9. Inventories 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Workshop inventory 70,840 50,718 
Diesel fuel 116,637 115,448 
Opal fuel 42,900 -

230,377 166,166 

10. Other assets 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Accrued income 15,642 23,081 
Other 23,654 140,701 

39,296 163,782 
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11. Property, plant and equipment 
2015 

$
2014 

$
Carrying amounts of: 
Land and improvements 2,513,080 435,000 
Buildings and infrastructure 43,707,713 24,757,038 
Roads 3,337,168 1,456,406 
Plant and equipment 2,040,555 2,827,861 
Furniture and fixtures 10,645 21,608 
Motor vehicles 2,488,290 3,558,106 

54,097,451 33,056,019 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Fair value measurement of the Council’s freehold land, buildings and roads 

The Council's freehold land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of 
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The 
fair value measurements of the Council's freehold land and buildings as at 30 June 2015 were performed by 
Maloney Field Services, independent valuers not related to the Council. Messrs. Maloney Field Services are 
members of the Institute of Valuers of Australia, and they have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in 
the fair value measurement of properties in the relevant locations.  

The Council’s freehold land has been valued utilising the Market Approach. This generally involves a valuation 
methodology referred to as the Direct Comparison Method of Valuation which requires that the valuer collates, 
inspects and analyses a wide cross section of land sales throughout the Council district with recent times Each of 
Council’s Land assets are then considered with reference to the full range of attributes inclusive of location, land 
area, development potential (if any) and general market appeal using the market research as evidence from which to 
draw conclusions regarding market Value.  

Council’s buildings and structures have been valued utilising the Market Approach or the Cost Approach. The factors 
considered in selecting the appropriate valuation technique include whether the underlying land is designated 
Community Land (leasehold or licence), together with other factors which determine whether the highest and best 
use of the property is the current use or an alternative use that would maximise the value of the asset. AASB 116 
and 13 requires that the value of the Land be deducted from the Market Value of the property in its entirety to arrive 
at a figure which represents the added value of the Building and/or Buildings and Structures located on the Land. 

Building situated on leased and licensed land and specialised Buildings and Buildings where there is limited market 
evidence have been valued utilised the Cost Approach. Community Land cannot be traded in the open market and it 
therefore follows that any buildings and other Structures thereon should not be valued based on Market Value. 

Current replacement cost was used to determine the fair value of roads. This method uses various valuation 
methods based on cost as the primary input and should not be confused with actual or historic cost. From the 
perspective of a market participant seller, the price that would be received for the asset is based on the cost to a 
market participant buyer to acquire or construct a substitute asset of comparable utility, adjusted for physical 
deterioration and all forms of obsolescence. This concept is broader than depreciation for accounting or tax and 
considers physical deterioration, functional (which is generally internal to the asset) or economic obsolescence 
(which is generally external to the asset). 

Details of the Council’s freehold land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2015 
are as follows: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as 
at 30/06/2015 

Land - 2,513,080 - 2,513,080 
Buildings and Infrastructure - 2,663,824 41,043,809 43,707,713 
Roads - - 3,337,168 3,337,168 

- 5,176,904 44,381,057 49,557,961 

Impairment losses recognised in the year 

Property, plant and equipment were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2015. Where indications of impairment 
exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment adjustments is made if the asset’s 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. 

No impairment losses have been recognised in the current year profit or loss. (2014: nil) 
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12. Trade and other payables 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Trade payables 3,089,703 2,229,389 
Accrued expenses 853,055 1,160,272 
Other 21,479 162,334 

3,964,237 3,551,995 

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services from the suppliers is one month. Generally no 
interest is charged on the Trade Payables 

13. Provisions 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Employee benefits (i) 2,049,489 2,037,745 

Current 
 - Annual leave 1,265,784 1,415,344 
 - Long service leave 399,417 90,189 

1,665,201 1,505,533 

Non-current 
 - Long service leave 384,289 532,212 

(i) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and vested long service leave entitlements 
accrued by employees. The increase in the carrying amount of the provision for the current year results 
from the change in the number of employees as well as regular increase in entitlements. 

14. Reserves 
2015 

$
2014 

$
Properties revaluation reserve 
Balance at beginning of financial year 20,444,472 20,444,472 
Increase arising from revaluations of properties 23,725,559 -
Impairment losses - -
Balance at end of financial year 44,170,031 20,444,472 

The properties revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land, buildings and roads. When revalued land or 
buildings are sold, the portion of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred directly 
to retained earnings. Items of other comprehensive income included in the properties revaluation reserve will not 
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 
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15. Commitments 
Operating leases relate to property, equipment and motor vehicles. The property leases have term from one to 
three years with no option to extend. The rent is a fixed monthly amount and the Council does not have an option 
to purchase the building at the expiry of the lease term. A rent review may be performed annually to allow for 
Consumer Price Index changes. The equipment and motor vehicle operating leases have fixed periods from three 
to five years. There is no option to purchase the leased equipment and vehicles at the expiry of the leases.  

2015 
$

2014 
$

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
Within 1 year 252,680 362,545 
More than 1 year but less than 5 years 192,899 220,800 
Balance at end of financial year 445,579 583,345 

16. Financial Risk Management 

The main risks Roper Gulf Regional Council is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, 
liquidity risk, market risk and interest rate risk. 

The Council's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, trade and other receivables, trade and 
other payables and borrowings. 

(a) Risk Management Objectives 
The Council has given the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) the power to invest funds of the Council. The Council's 
objective is to minimise financial risk by investing only in short term deposits with local banks. Before any 
investments are made, banks are contacted by the Finance Committee to obtain available rates; the Finance 
Committee will present the information to the CEO who will approve the investment to be made. Monthly reports 
on investments are prepared and given out at council meetings. The CEO and Finance Committee of the 
Council receive monthly investment summaries from banks confirming the amount of investments. 

(b) Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty may fail to discharge an obligation to the Council. The Council is exposed 
to this risk for various financial instruments arising from receivables in the conduct of its operations. 
The Council minimises risk by only investing cash in government guaranteed financial institutions or one of 
Australia's big four banks. 

The Council continuously monitors defaults of customers and believes that it does not have any significant 
credit risk exposure to any other counter party or group of counter parties as the Council actively manages 
credit risk by following up outstanding debtors. 

The Council does not have a material credit risk exposure relating to term deposits and bank accounts held with 
the Traditional Credit Union and Commonwealth Bank of Australia. 

The Council believes that it does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any other counter party or 
group of counter parties as the Council actively manages credit risk by following up outstanding debtors. 

None of the Council’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. An ageing 
analysis of the Council’s trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 7. 

(c) Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may also result from the inability to sell 
financial assets quickly at their fair values. 

The Council reduces its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring its cash flows closely through rolling future cash 
flows and monitoring the ageing of receivables and payables. 

The Council maintains cash and cash equivalents deemed sufficient to finance its operations. Excess cash are 
invested in short-term investments to achieve maximum returns. 
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The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Council's financial assets held for liquidity purposes and 
financial liabilities based on remaining contractual undiscounted payments. 

30 June 2015

Within > 1 year > 2 year 

Notes one year < 2 years < 5 years > 5 years Total 

Trade and other payables 12 3,964,237 - - 3,964,237 

Employee provisions 13 1,276,577 399,417 213,306 160,189 2,049,489 

5,240,814 399,417 213,306 160,189 5,240,814 

30 June 2014 

Trade and other payables 12 3,551,995 - - - 3,551,995 

Employee 13 1,498,471 84,991 171,910 275,158 2,030,530 

5,050,466 84,991 171,910 275,158 5,582,525 

(d) Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. 

The Council is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to interest 
rate risks from its operating, investing and financing activities.

Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the 
reporting period, whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of 
fixed rate financial instruments. The Council is exposed to interest rate risk primarily from its cash surpluses 
invested in short term interest bearing deposits. The deposits are only made with reputable financial 
institutions with maturity dates generally being no more than 30 days. 

Note 
2015 

$
2014 

$

Short-term deposit 8 549,336 530,286 

The Council has not entered into any loans or other financial commitments that present exposure to interest 
rate risk as at the end of reporting period. Credit cards are the only short term financial instrument used by 
the Council and balances are cleared at month end. 

Interest earned on term deposits after they mature may be affected by changes in market interest rates. 
The following table represents the effect to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
(and corresponding effect to the cash value in the statement of financial position) when the current market 
interest rate is varied by a 100 basis point is anticipated to be a reasonable estimate of the maximum 
movement in market interest rates in financial year 2014-15. 

2015 
+ 100 basis 
points 

- 100 basis 
points 

Effect on statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income 5,493          (5,493) 

2014 
+ 100 basis 
points 

- 100 basis 
points 

Effect on statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income 5,303            (5,303) 
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17. Key management personnel compensation 

2015 
$

2014 
$

Short-term employee benefits 799,858 683,725 
Post-employment benefits 93,656 73,567 

893,514 757,292 

18. Notes to the statement of cash flows 

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks 
and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items at the 
general ledger level as follows: 

2015 
$

2014 
$

Cash and cash equivalents  13,229,260 9,467,899 

(b) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

2015 
$

2014
$

Deficit for the year (947,997) (3,267,032) 
Adjustment For : 
Depreciation and amortisation 3,636,140 3,898,830 
Net profit on disposal of assets (395,787) (420,818) 

Operating profit before changes in working capital 2,292,357 210,980 

Change in working capital: 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1,560,019 (1,525,966) 
Increase in inventories (64,211) (11,265) 
Decrease/(increase)  in other assets 124,486 (84,874) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 412,242 (181,108) 
Increase in provisions 11,744 220,887 

Net change in working capital 2,044,279 (1,582,326) 

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) 
Operating activities 4,336,637 (1,371,346) 
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19. Remuneration of auditors  
2015 

$
2014 

$
Audit or review of the financial report 87,328 115,700 

  The auditor of Roper Gulf Regional Council is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.  (2014: Merit Partners) 

20. Events after the reporting date 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
affect the operations of the Council, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Council in future 
financial years. 
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Street Address 
29 Crawford Street Katherine NT 0850
Postal Address 
PO Box 1321 Katherine NT 0851
Phone 08 8972 9000
Fax 08 8971 2607
Email info@ropergulf.nt.gov.au
Website www.ropergulf.nt.gov.au


